

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

5-30-2024

Teachers' Experience Serving Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders in Distance Learning

Mireya Escalante Torres Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Mireya Escalante Torres

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. JoAnn McAllister, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Patricia Loun, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2024

Abstract

Teachers' Experiences Serving Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders in

Distance Learning

by

Mireya Escalante Torres

MA, National University, 2006

BS, Biola University, 1997

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

General Psychology

Walden University

May 2024

Abstract

During the COVID-19 pandemic, stay-at-home orders forced millions of students attending schools in the United States to shift to distance learning. As pandemic restrictions lifted and schools reopened, an emerging trend was observed: many parents of children with disabilities chose to continue distance learning. This decision gains significance in the context of students with emotional and behavioral disorders (EBDs) who are at a higher risk of disengagement from school. Educators need to understand how to address social, emotional, and behavioral needs within online learning frameworks. However, increasing engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning has not been well-researched. Drawing upon Knowles' adult learning theory and ragogy, this study involved exploring and understanding teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in terms of distance learning. A generic qualitative design was used to gain insights into teachers' experiences. Participants consisted of nine teachers from a suburban school district in Southern California who were interviewed using semistructured questions. Thematic analysis with coding was used to identify two main themes: relationship building and fostering engagement and leveraging technology to increase engagement. Findings indicated creating positive classroom environments, individualizing instruction, and building teacher-student relationships are crucial to addressing unique learning needs of students with EBDs. Study findings may contribute to positive social change by advancing the knowledge base regarding student engagement for students with EBDs to improve academic outcomes.

Teachers' Experiences Serving Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders in

Distance Learning

by

Mireya Escalante Torres

MA, National University, 2006

BS, Biola University, 1997

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

General Psychology

Walden University

May 2024

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my family, whose unwavering support and belief in me have been my anchor throughout this journey. Thank you for being my constant source of strength and motivation.

Acknowledgments

I extend my heartfelt gratitude to my committee chair, Dr. JoAnn McAllister, whose encouragement, commitment, and support were indispensable throughout my dissertation journey. Your support and guidance have made a lasting impact, and I am profoundly grateful. I am also grateful to Dr. Patricia Loun for her insightful feedback and steadfast support. Lastly, a special thanks go to the students I have had the privilege of working with over my educational career. This study would not have been possible without you.

"When we are no longer able to change a situation, we are challenged to change ourselves." – Viktor E. Frankl

List of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	5
Research Question	6
Theoretical Framework	6
Nature of the Study	7
Definitions	9
Assumptions	12
Scope and Delimitations	12
Limitations	14
Significance	15
Summary	16
Chapter 2: Literature Review	18
Literature Search Strategy	18
Theoretical Framework	19
Literature Review Related to Key Concepts	21
Overview of Students with EBDs in Schools	21
Characteristics of Students with EBDs	24
Overview of Teachers Supporting Students with EBDs	

Table of Contents

MTSS and Adaptive Supports	
UDL	
Academic Challenges and EBDs	
Distance Learning and School Connectedness	
Online Academic Intervention Strategies for Students with EBDs	39
Summary and Conclusions	40
Chapter 3: Research Method	41
Research Design and Rationale	41
Role of the Researcher	43
Methodology	44
Participant Selection Logic	44
Instrumentation	46
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	47
Data Analysis Plan	
Issues of Trustworthiness	49
Credibility	49
Transferability	50
Dependability	50
Confirmability	51
Ethical Procedures	51
Summary	52
Chapter 4: Results	53

Setting	53
Demographics	53
Data Collection	54
Data Analysis	56
Evidence of Trustworthiness	58
Credibility	58
Transferability, Dependability, and Confirmability	58
Results	59
Research Question	60
Theme 1: Relationship Building and Fostering Engagement	61
Theme 2: Leveraging Technology to Increase Engagement	67
Summary	73
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	75
Interpretation of the Findings	76
Limitations of the Study	80
Recommendations	81
Implications	82
Conclusion	83
References	85
Appendix A: Interview Questions	107

List of Tables

Table 1. Research Questions and Data Themes	. 59
Table 2. Theme 1, Subtheme 1:1 and 1:2	. 60
Table 2. The mark 0. Sachtherman 0.1	(7
Table 3. Theme 2, Subtheme 2:1	.0/

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Students with emotional disturbance (ED), hereafter referred to as students with emotional and behavioral disorders (EBDs), are the most demanding and challenging students to educate and support (Bettini et al., 2019; Freeman et al., 2019; Garwood et al., 2021; Hott et al., 2021; Mitchell et al., 2019). Teachers need targeted skills, abilities, and knowledge to instruct students with EBDs effectively (Chen et al., 2021; Cumming et al., 2021; French, 2019; Hirsch et al., 2021; Marlow et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2018). Leggio and Terras (2019) found traditional interventions were insufficient. They suggest that teachers can meet the unique learning needs of these students by creating positive classroom environments, individualizing instruction, and building teacher-student relationships. Although studies have explored academic and behavioral interventions for students with EBDs, there is a lack of information on effective interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. Additionally, it remains unclear whether classroom practices can be effectively adapted to distance learning environments.

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs participating in K-12 online special education programs in the state of California. Insights regarding their experiences contributed to the body of research on effective practices for teachers supporting students with EBDs in online learning environments. Findings of this study also contributed to positive social change by adding

to research to support changes in public school policies and instructional practices for students with EBDs.

Chapter 1 includes a description of the phenomenon leading to the research topic and research problem. Next, the problem and purpose of the study are described as well as the theoretical framework. Key concepts are defined, and potential assumptions that may have influenced research as well as scope and limitations are described. Lastly, this study's significance and implications for positive social change are discussed.

Background

The COVID-19 pandemic changed the way teachers teach and interact with students. It forced more than 1.6 billion students worldwide to switch to remote learning and school systems to rapidly provide students with remote learning technologies (Trust & Whalen, 2021; Wyse et al., 2020). As school districts increasingly adopt distance learning, teachers remain responsible for fulfilling students' educational and social-emotional needs. Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) of 2004, educators are legally and ethically obligated to apply effective instructional practices for students with EBDs to adequately address individualized education programs (Hott et al., 2021; Jameson et al., 2020; Lowenthal et al., 2020; Ortiz et al., 2020; Rice & Dykman, 2018). Several studies on learning needs of students with EBDs advocate for systematic and targeted approaches. Ineffective interventions and teaching practices for engaging and supporting students with EBDs in distance learning have led to poor academic outcomes and lack of school success (Gilmour et al., 2022; O'Brien et al., 2019; Soares et al., 2022; Whitney et al., 2022). To date, there is little evidence or research on educating

students with EBDs in distance learning environments that effectively guide educators in terms of implementing evidence-based interventions. This decreasing trend is concerning, given the inherent challenges of working with students with EBDs and underperformance of this population of students (Garwood et al., 2021).

According to Hirsch et al. (2021), distance learning environments are likely to create significant and pervasive regression in students with EBDs compared to typical students. Students with EBDs need explicit social, behavioral, and academic support to address their learning needs and keep them engaged in distance learning (Bettini et al., 2019; Cosma & Soni, 2019; Gage et al., 2017; Mitchell et al., 2019; Popham et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2018). Without effective practices, students with EBDs are at risk of continuing a cycle of disengagement and failure, including dropping out of school (Garcia et al., 2018; State et al., 2019). Furthermore, Dorn et al. (2020) indicated students with EBDs may already be facing setbacks due to COVID-19, a challenge that requires educators to be ready to address effectively.

Previous studies highlight the significant influence of teachers in terms of distance learning, particularly for students with EBDs. Distance learning environments limit teachers' use of interpersonal connections, modeling, and physical manipulatives to assist with making specialized academic instruction (SAI) engaging in distance learning (Alvarez-Guerrero et al., 2021; Hirsch et al., 2021; Schuck & Lambert, 2020). Despite these challenges, research indicates teachers should implement a range of evidence-based practices (EBPs) and intensive interventions that are differentiated or modified and adapted from standardized methods to meet varied academic and behavioral needs of students with EBDs (Chen et al., 2021; Cook et al., 2017; State et al., 2019). However, distance learning requires a level of autonomy and student responsibility that this population of students may not independently possess, increasing their likelihood of disengagement (Billingsley et al., 2018; Chiu, 2021; Crutcher, 2020; Page et al., 2021). McKittrick and Tuchman (2020) emphasized the necessity of modifying teaching approaches to effectively accommodate students with disabilities in distance learning environments. Yet, it remains unclear how these adaptations can be effectively implemented in distance learning environments.

Tanis (2020) stated teachers can possess effective instructional approaches in classrooms, but these skills do not always transfer to effective online teaching. Effective online teaching should include faculty-student communication, student-student communication, and content engagement (Tanis, 2020). Further, evidence-based interventions result in the best possible outcomes for students with EBDs (Didion et al., 2020; Hirsch et al., 2021; State et al., 2019; Zaheer et al., 2019). However, teachers often receive limited professional development involving classroom management practices to keep them engaged in these learning environments (State et al., 2019). Understanding teachers' perspectives regarding selecting interventions may contribute to developing best practices that support engagement of students with EBDs in distance learning environments.

Problem Statement

Specific intervention strategies need to be developed to meet the unique needs of EBDs students in online learning environments. However, there is limited information

regarding effective teaching practices that enhance the learning engagement of students with EBDs in distance education. Teachers often report feeling unprepared to address the social, behavioral, and emotional needs of students with EBDs (Bruhn et al., 2022). Teachers face difficulties in maintaining student engagement, adapting curriculum to remote learning, and a lack of expertise in delivering effective strategies or interventions remotely (Hirsch et al., 2022). Exploring teachers' experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to improve student engagement enriches our understanding of how to engage students with EBDs in distance learning environments. Additionally, it informs best practices to better prepare teachers to use online formats. Understanding their experiences also bridges the gap between effective in-person and distance learning practices for students with EBDs.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore teachers' experiences involving selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs participating in K-12 online special education programs in California. I explored teachers' experiences and interventions in selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. This led to information regarding EBPs, perceived preparedness to implement these interventions with fidelity, and effective instructional strategies that support students' social-emotional functioning with EBDs. In addition, this study included teacher reflections on the psychological impact of online learning to guide them in delivering effective interventions to meet students' social and emotional needs. Learning about their experiences may provide insights for school personnel, including teachers, school psychologists, and administrators, and add to the knowledge base regarding engaging students with EBDs in distance learning environments.

Research Question

The research question for this generic qualitative study is:

What are teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning environments?

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical foundation for this study was andragogy. Andragogy is based on six assumptions related to adult learning, learning environments, and learning processes: self-concept, experience, readiness to learn, orientation of learning, and motivation to learn (Knowles, 1980). Self-concept and experience are drawn from humanistic psychology which recognizes adults are independent learners with unique personalities. Readiness to learn and orientation of learning rely on psychosocial developmental perspectives which support adult willingness to learn (Bartle, 2021). I sought to understand how and why teachers select specific interventions and what tools or resources they used to engage students. Lastly, motivation is related to self-esteem, quality of life, responsibility, and success (Knowles, 1989).

Knowles' assumptions of andragogy guide this generic qualitative study to understand teacher experiences with selecting interventions to meet unique needs of students with EBDs. In addition, andragogy was used to address educator-learner relationships, which are essential for students to feel connected and engaged in distance learning. The research design approach, research questions, and data analysis were influenced by Knowles' and ragogy. A detailed description of and ragogy is provided in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

A qualitative approach was selected in order to understand how individuals interpret their experiences. Quantitative research involves confirming or testing a theory by analyzing relationships between variables (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). These variables are then quantified using statistical measures (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Due to the nature of this study, a quantitative approach was considered but determined not to be appropriate. Qualitative approaches involve understanding a phenomenon or topic through perspectives of those who are involved. These approaches enable researchers to pursue answers to specific questions using a systematic and predefined set of procedures (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Additionally, it is an effective means to obtain specific information about values, opinions, and behaviors involving how people experience a given issue and experience the world. Common approaches to qualitative research include grounded theory, ethnography, case study, phenomenological research, and narrative research (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

The specific qualitative approach was a generic approach. This approach was used to understand participants' behaviors and motives, and to address their interpretations. Although other qualitative approaches were considered like case studies and ethnography, a generic qualitative approach was selected. This method includes using semi-structured interviews, observations, field notes, and digital materials to deeply explore participants' experiences (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). A generic qualitative approach was used to identify relevant patterns and themes from participants' experiences, using an interview process. This method provided insight into behaviors, perspectives, and thoughts. Kiger and Varpio (2020) said the generic approach is a flexible and robust analysis method that is used for developing insights into complex phenomena without using theories to inform analysis. Instead, the theory may be modified during the research process to align with findings as the research question becomes more focused or is redefined in response to emerging facts (Walters, 2001).

Participants in this study were special education teachers assigned to K through 12th grade students who were eligible for special education services under the IDEA eligibility criteria for emotional disturbance (ED). Data sources included individual semi-structured interviews of teachers. Data were systematically arranged according to similarities, differences, and themes. Creswell and Poth (2018) recommended interviewing five to 25 participants so that research has enough information. For this study, 10 to 12 teachers were recruited. However, the final number depended on data saturation. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), saturation occurs when continued data collection does not produce added information or insights, and analysis has produced robust findings.

Data analysis was conducted using a thematic analysis process. Braun and Clarke (2006) described thematic analysis as a method that involves searching across datasets to identify recurring patterns that signify underlying meanings within the data. This method

follows a six-stage process where themes are generated from coded data to identify experiences of special education teachers regarding opinions and perspectives that may not be immediately obvious but can positively inform the study. I made sense of the findings by grouping responses by respective themes and interpreting phenomena in terms of meanings according to participants. To ensure objectivity and reliability, I bracketed personal thoughts to reduce bias and decrease threats to internal validity. This qualitative approach enabled me to understand experiences of online educators by addressing their experiences with providing social, emotional, behavioral, and educational support to students with EBDs. Following the guidelines by Braun and Clarke (2006), I employed and inductive an inductive and data-driven approach to directly identify themes from the data, ensuring that the findings emerged from the educators' perspectives without preconceived notions.

Definitions

The following terms and phrases were used in this study and are defined as follows:

Adolescents: The period between the ages of 10 and 19 (CDC, 2020; WHO, 2019).

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs): A traumatic experience which occurs before the age of 18 that an adult person remembers (CDC, 2020). There are nine types of ACEs: physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional abuse, mental illness of a household member, problematic drinking or alcoholism of a household member, illegal street or prescription drug use by a household member, divorce or separation of a parent, domestic violence towards parents, and incarceration of a household member (CDC, 2020). ACE scores are used to provide predictive values for health and social problems in adulthood (CDC, 2020).

Distance Learning: Also referred to as distance education, e-learning, and online learning. Distance learning means instruction in which pupils and instructors are in separate locations, and pupils are under the general supervision of a certified employee of the local educational agency (LEA). Distance learning may include but is not limited to interaction, instructions, and check-ins between teachers and pupils through use of a computer or other communications technology, video or audio instruction in which the primary mode of communication between the pupil and certified employee is online interaction, instructional television, video, telecourses, or other instruction that relies on computer or communications technology, and print, video, and audio materials incorporating assignments that are the subject of written or oral feedback (CDE, 2023).

Educationally Related Mental Health Services (ERMHS): A term that was adopted by California school districts to refer to services that were previously provided by county Department of Mental Health (DMH) agencies (Disability Rights California, 2024).

Emotional and Behavioral Disorders (EBDs): Students with EBDs have difficulties regulating their emotions or behaviors, which negatively impacts their educational progress. Educational difficulties are the result of "an inability to learn which cannot be explained by intellectual, sensory, or health factors [...] the term does not apply to children who are socially maladjusted unless it is determined that they have an emotional disturbance" (CFR 300.8 (4)(i).

Individualized Education Program (IEP): Plan which documents free and appropriate public education (FAPE) is provided with details regarding learning needs and educational and related service information as well as information about how schools measure progress (Hott et al., 2021).

Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA) of 2004: A law that made significant changes to the IDEA of 1990. The law changed federal and state monitoring practices and required assessment of early intervention programs to enhance learning of students with disabilities.

Psychological services: These include counseling services, social work services, and parent counseling and training (California Association of School Psychologists, 2014).

Related Services: The IDEA (2004) defined related services as the following: Transportation and such developmental, corrective, and other supportive services as are required to assist a child with a disability to benefit from special education, and includes speech-language pathology and audiology services, interpreting services, psychological services, physical and occupational therapy, recreation, including therapeutic recreation, early identification, and assessment of disabilities in children, counseling services, including rehabilitation counseling, orientation, and mobility services, and medical services for diagnostic or evaluation purposes. Related services also include school health services and school nurse services, social work services in school, and parent counseling and training. (34 *CFR* 300.43(a)

Assumptions

All research is grounded in philosophical assumptions. My assumptions were rooted in personal and professional experiences and were necessary to state and justify since they had the potential to influence research. I assumed participants shared their experiences using professional points of view. Participants' perspectives may differ regarding where and how they acquired knowledge. I assumed participants had knowledge and skills that were required to work with students with EBDs. Teachers are assumed to have training and experience to deliver targeted, intensive, and meaningful instruction. In addition, I assumed participants had professional backgrounds and training to view classroom experiences from both student and teacher perspectives. I also assumed participants answered questions truthfully and according to their professional credentials and experiences. Participants were assured their identities would be kept confidential to prompt truthful and accurate responses.

Scope and Delimitations

This study involved capturing distinct experiences and perceptions of teachers' experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to engage students with EBDs in distance learning environments. I aimed to understand how teachers meet socialemotional and behavioral needs of students to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs. I did not consider or control other factors, such as parental involvement or technological issues, which may have influenced how students with EBDs responded to distance learning and teacher interventions. Additional research is needed to determine the impact of parental involvement and technology on student motivation and engagement in distance learning environments.

To facilitate the best possible outcomes, teaching professionals need to be proficient in implementing effective interventions tailored to the unique needs of students with EBDs. As such, the population in this proposed study was delimited to credentialed teachers who were certified in California with a minimum of 2 years of teaching experience working with students with EBDs. More needs to be known about what is currently happening in terms of direct practice to ensure long-term positive outcomes in distance learning environments. The growth of online education was a driving factor for this study. Therefore, I did not include teachers in face-to-face or blended online learning environments.

According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), transferability or external validity in a qualitative study represents how results can be generalized outside participant populations. To mitigate the threat of transferability and promote validity and reliability, I created an audit trail to address transparency of procedures throughout the research process. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) defined the audit trail as a comprehensive and detailed narrative that outlines methods, procedures, and decision points during the research process. In addition, generalization becomes weaker when extending results to other groups of students. However, providing detailed descriptions and member checking enhances trustworthiness of findings (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I address potential

transferability issues via descriptions of the research methodology and design in Chapter 3.

Limitations

Creswell and Poth (2018) defined a limitation as a weakness in research. Specific limitations inherent to this study include the sample size, sampling methods, and limitations of the statistical model. First, the proposed sample size is small but appropriate for a generic qualitative research study. I collected data until it reached saturation to address this limitation. Secondly, participants may not have provided complete accounts of their experiences. This limitation was addressed by developing questions designed to prompt responds to share their successes and positive experiences related to the phenomena. Given that I focused on teacher experiences, I did not provide quantifiable data. A generic qualitative research design with interviews has limitations because they do not permit triangulation or data collection from multiple sources to assure validity. I used information from a small group of selected participants which may not represent larger groups.

A potential limitation is that cases may not accurately represent the phenomenon. Reflexivity and data saturation can be used to confirm validity (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Lastly, I acknowledge my experiences as a school psychologist may have led to latent biases that may have interfered with interpreting data. To address limitations and biases, I established explicit criteria for participation in the study. I also reflected on potential biases using dated journal entries throughout the data collection and analysis processes.

Significance

Online learning may not be suitable for every learner because of the required autonomy and student responsibility it demands (Chiu, 2021; Molnar, 2019; Vaughan, 2020). McKenna et al. (2019) asserted students with EBDs need effective interventions to increase engagement and student success. This study provides insights into effective instructional strategies and interventions for students with EBDs in distance learning environments. These insights will contribute to additional training opportunities for general and special education teachers and help establish improved practices for engaging students with EBDs. This study will also help build teacher confidence in terms of teaching this population online, enabling students with EBDs to overcome learning challenges. This study also encourages further research, expanding the understanding of current interventions and instructional methods used in practice to engage and meet the needs of students with EBDs in distance learning environments.

Teachers play a crucial role in educating students. However, educators often struggle to meet the needs of students with EBDs because they may perceive maladaptive behaviors or disengagement as a manifestation of their disability. This study offers insights and a deeper understanding of processes by which teachers select, implement, and assess interventions to increase engagement and achievement in distance learning environments. It also positively impacts social change by identifying current practices in special education that promote consistency with social-emotional learning and instructional methods to support student growth. Furthermore, effective interventions for students with EBDs have the potential to produce long-term positive impacts on life functioning, transitioning into employment, and independent living. In addition, the findings give teachers the confidence to deliver and shape service models for students with EBDs. This study contributes to positive social change by expanding the knowledge base regarding student engagement for students with EBDs participating in distance learning and may also alleviate economic strains on the welfare system, juvenile corrections departments, and mental health facilities.

Summary

The pandemic forced millions of students attending schools in the United States to transition to remote learning. Students with EBDs are more likely to experience significant and pervasive academic regression compared to nondisabled students (Dorn et al., 2020; Hirsch et al., 2022). However, limited research exists regarding distance learning practices to improve academic engagement for students with EBDs. Educational reforms have been used to meet those needs, but students with EBDs present a wide range of needs that require targeted and specialized instruction. It is unclear what practices or approaches are best for distance learning. Without appropriate interventions, students with EBDs are at risk of school disengagement, failure, and are more vulnerable to problems such as dropping out of school.

The purpose of the proposed study was to focus on teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs participating in K-12 online special education programs in the state of California. Andragogy was used to support the focus of this study. A generic qualitative approach was used to address teachers' experiences with this population. Increasing

knowledge about supporting this population of students may promote positive social change by identifying best practices for student growth and academic success. Chapter 2 includes descriptions of literature search strategies to identify relevant previous studies, the theoretical framework, and a review and analysis of relevant research.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

During the COVID-19 pandemic, schools closed their doors and transitioned to remote learning. As a result, educators were left to navigate online education with limited resources and experience involving educating students with EBDs remotely. This situation has highlighted a clear need for additional information on the feasibility and effectiveness of distance learning practices for students with EBDs. The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to enhance understanding of student engagement among students with EBDs who were participating in distance learning environments. I focused on exploring teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to improve student engagement.

This chapter includes literature search strategies used to identify best practices for engaging students with EBD. It then provides a detailed discussion of Knowles' theory of andragogy. Additionally, I provide an overview of this student population, discuss approaches to meet their needs, explore the unique characteristics and instructional requirements of students with ED, and present information on the background and quality of teacher experiences in serving this student population. The chapter concludes with an overview of specific evidence-based practices for addressing this population's unique educational, social-emotional, and behavioral needs. A summary completes the chapter.

Literature Search Strategy

The primary focus of this literature review was to review and critique literature that establishes best practices for students with EBDs. Literature sources that were applicable to this study were reviewed, including peer-reviewed journal articles and published books. Search terms were used in various combinations to identify an initial list of sources. These sources were subsequently reviewed and narrowed in terms of relevance. Search terms in this study were: *teaching students with emotional disturbance*, *behavioral disorders*, *online learning*, distance *learning*, *interventions*, *best practices teaching EBDs students*, professional development, *teachers*, *special education teachers*, *academic achievement*, and *academic performance*. I used the following search engines: SAGE Journals, ERIC, Google Scholar, EBSCOHost, and ProQuest. In addition, I reviewed CDC and NCES web sites. Over 200 sources were identified to have significant relevance to the topic study. These were narrowed to 130 articles.

The literature review emphasized EBPs for students involving ED, engagement, special education teachers, and online learning. The literature review contains information about practices according to the reauthorized IDEIA, regulations, and curricula that were used to support educational progress and development of necessary skills for students with EBDs to increase positive outcomes. The literature review also included evidence regarding online learning and EBPs for students with EBDs. I determined teachers require additional training to provide effective interventions for students with EBDs, and there is a lack of teacher knowledge to effectively engage students with EBDs in distance learning environments. These factors may be contributing to student disengagement.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this study was Knowles' and ragogy, an adult learning theory. And ragogy was used to provide the language and foundation for understanding teacher perspectives regarding how they address added information and concepts to apply knowledge to online learning environments. Andragogy is based on five assumptions related to adult learning, the learning environment, and learning process: self-concept, experience, readiness to learn, orientation of learning, and motivation to learn (Knowles, 1980). Andragogy shows learners are encouraged to use past knowledge to form present conclusions. Knowles (1980) suggested teachers benefit from being involved in planning and evaluation of instruction and learning by acquiring knowledge.

Knowles (1989) suggested four principles that apply to distance learning: adults need to be involved in the planning and evaluation of their instruction, experience (including mistakes) provides the basis for learning activities, adults are most interested in learning subjects that have immediate relevance and impact to their job or personal life, and adult learning is problem-centered rather than content-oriented. Knowles (1989) suggested teachers benefit from involvement in planning and evaluating instructional strategies. The ideal way for educators to learn how to apply these strategies is to acquire necessary knowledge and skills which relate to fulfillment and success (Knowles, 1980). From this perspective, educators can move from simply being facilitators to helping students achieve their full potential (Knowles, 1980). Andragogy and its concepts are relevant to this study in order to understand how and why teachers select specific interventions and what tools or resources are used to engage students with EBDs. Knowing how adult learning principles translate to targeted interventions may enable stakeholders to better meet needs of students with EBDs in distance learning environments.

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts

Research on effective interventions to increase engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning environments is limited; however, teachers are still expected to implement interventions to meet social-emotional, behavioral, and academic needs of students with EBDs. The following literature review includes insights regarding interventions for students participating in distance learning to promote engagement and additional training with effective strategies for teaching students with EBDs. Engagement correlates with academic performance, which results in positive outcomes (Buzzai et al., 2021; Mihalec & Cooley, 2020; Mullins & Panlilio, 2021). Topics that were covered in this review include an overview of students with EBDs in schools, characteristics of students with EBDs, an overview of teachers supporting students with EBDs, multi-tiered system of support (MTSS) and adaptive supports, universal design for learning (UDL), academic challenges, distance learning and school connectedness, and online academic intervention strategies for students with EBDs.

Overview of Students with EBDs in Schools

The California Department of Education (CDE, 2023) reported it provides special education services to 21,593 under ED eligibility criteria. This represents 3% of students identified for special education services during the 2022-2023 school year. Qualifying students who met IDEA eligibility criteria for ED were provided educational services through IEPs. IEPs are designed to help address students' individual social, emotional,

behavioral, and academic needs, requiring additional support with access to related services such as school-based mental health counseling and behavioral supports to benefit from special education services (Lambert et al., 2021).

By nature of the eligibility criteria, students eligible for ED do not acquire the same skills as their non-disabled peers for school success. They are often unable to maintain appropriate social relationships, have academic difficulties in multiple areas, low grades, and have the least favorable outcomes of any group of individuals with disabilities (Chen et al., 2021; Garwood et al., 2021; King et al., 2019; Mitchell et al., 2019; Prince et al., 2018). Although the IEP is designed to provide students with disabilities an appropriate education to help meet their specific social-emotional, behavioral, and academic needs, research reveals they do not always align with positive outcomes. Consequently, relying on the student's IEP may not be enough to give teachers instructional guidance or the best possible outcomes for students with EBDs. Hott et al. (2021), in a descriptive review of 126 IEPs for students with EBDs, identified that IEPs often fail to address student needs comprehensively. As a result, this disconnect may cause students with EBDs to fall further behind their peers, especially in distance learning environments (Basham et al., 2020; Mann et al., 2021; Ortiz et al., 2020).

Subsequently, in a study completed by Tomaino et al. (2021), the researchers determined that students with high behavioral needs who transitioned to distance learning-maintained half of the skills addressed in their IEPs and only made progress on a quarter of their own IEP goals. These findings are concerning since IDEA of 2004 requires educators to ensure that students with disabilities receive an appropriate public education regardless of the educational setting. Unfortunately, this population of students had the highest dropout rate compared with other disabled children at 33% and nationally at 57% (CDE, 2023).

Data gathered from the National Education Policy Center (NEPC) Annual Report on Virtual Education (2019) for students enrolled in online learning environments indicates the graduation rate of disabled and non-disabled students was recently 54.6%, significantly lower than the national average of 85%. These statistical findings are alarming because students with EBDs have consistently had lower graduation rates (Mills & Sabornie, 2021; Vaughan, 2020). In addition, students with emotional disabilities are three times more likely to be arrested and face unemployment than non-disabled students (Freeman et al., 2019; Nordahl & Wells, 2019). Although the data reveals that students with EBDs make up a small fraction of many school populations across the United States, the data indicates an urgent need to address the social-emotional and educational needs of this targeted population.

Data from the National Longitudinal Transition Study (2018) from 2003 to 2012, report students with EBDs have made steady improvements in the areas of independent living skills, engagement in school activities (e.g., sports, clubs), and school support (e.g., tutoring) (Liu et al., 2018). However, they continue to face significant challenges in other areas critical to adulthood. For instance, they found compared to the previous decade, students with EBDs were more likely to have difficulty understanding others, take prescriptions for their behavioral health, come from economically challenged households, and participate in federally assisted programs (Liu et al., 2018). Furthermore, the study noted rates of grade retention, suspension, and expulsion among students with EBDs remained constant over the past decade, even when compared with other students with disabilities, despite the implementation of programs like Multi-tiered System of Support (MTSS). Similarly, research in mental and behavioral health reveals that students with EBDs are more likely than other students with disabilities to demonstrate challenges across all domains, which include areas of social-emotional, academic, and behavioral (Kern et al., 2021; Mitchell et al., 2019; Oldfield et al., 2017).

Characteristics of Students with EBDs

According to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA, Sec. 300.8 (c) (4)), the term emotional disturbance refers to students with significant behavioral and mental health challenges that adversely affect a student's educational performance. They must demonstrate at least one of the following behaviors over a prolonged period and to a noticeable extent: (a) an impairment in educational performance that cannot be explained by intellectual, sensory, or health factors; (b) an inability to build or maintain satisfactory interpersonal relationships with peers or teachers; (c) a general mood of unhappiness or depression and (e) a tendency to develop physical symptoms or fears associated with personal or school problems (Oelrich, 2012). In addition, this student population often demonstrates difficulty meeting social and behavioral demands, establishing meaningful peer and teacher relationships, and poor self-regulatory skills (Bierman & Sanders, 2021; Van Loan & Garwood, 2020). These behaviors can hinder students with EBDs and further isolate them from participating in the general education environment. Yet, others may struggle to cooperate or collaborate in the classroom environment or get into

conflicts with peers and teachers simply because they may lack the social skills to engage with others appropriately and require explicit teaching of skills to relate with others (Hutchins et al., 2020; Kumm et al., 2021; Wattanawongwan et al., 2021). Many, however, will experience significant internal and emotional distress, including social anxiety, loneliness, depression, and withdrawal behaviors that may further hinder their ability to connect with peers and teachers (Bierman & Sanders, 2021).

The literature indicates a correlation between the social and emotional makeup of students with EBDs and those who have experienced adverse childhood experiences (Crouch et al., 2019; Mattison et al., 2021; Offerman et al., 2022; Spence et al., 2021). The Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE) Study is ongoing collaborative research between the CDC and Kaiser Permanente. This study has sparked discussion and research on the relationship between exposure to trauma during childhood and its negative impact on a student's long-term mental, emotional, and behavioral outcomes (Mattison et al., 2021). Research indicates an estimated 48% of children will experience at least one adverse childhood experience before age 17 (Mattison et al., 2021; Offerman et al., 2022; Spence et al., 2021). While not all trauma exposure results in EBDs or related symptoms, it does increase the risk of such outcomes. Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated trauma experiences and intensified anxiety levels thereby putting students with EBDs at increased risk (Dorn et al., 2020; Hirsch et al., 2022).

Specific characteristics of students impacted by trauma may include the following: internalized behaviors (e.g., Generalized Anxiety, Major Depressive Disorder, Bipolar Disorder), externalizing behaviors (e.g., Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Conduct Disorder), or a combination of both behaviors that may impair their ability to benefit from universal or targeted school supports (Offerman et al., 2022; Spence et al., 2021). Two frequently identified internalizing conditions are anxiety disorder and depression (CDC, 2020). Externalizing behaviors are observable actions directed toward other people or property, such as acting out, disrupting the classroom environment, verbal aggression, or physical aggression. These characteristics, typical in students with EBDs, can make teaching challenging and unpredictable in a classroom setting and present even more significant challenges in distance learning (Hirsch et al., 2021).

School-based interventions are commonly used in combination with the IEP, such as school-based counseling, contingency management, behavior modification, social and emotional learning, and mentoring to address the specific needs of students with EBDs (Carroll et al., 2020; Egan et al., 2019; Hawkins et al., 2020; Kelchner et al., 2019; Kern et al., 2019; Lambie et al., 2019) and to a lesser degree academic interventions (Garwood et al., 2021). Though some of these strategies can be implemented in distance learning, the research is unclear on how effective these interventions may be or if modifications are required to make these interventions effective for students with EBDs (Hirsch et al., 2021; Tomaino et al., 2021).

Overview of Teachers Supporting Students with EBDs

Special education certification identifies teachers with the skills needed to instruct students with disabilities (Gilmour et al., 2022) effectively. They go through rigorous training and a certification process that includes the completion of state requirements for

teaching a subject or grade and the ability to demonstrate content knowledge through a test before becoming certified. Similarly, with a general education certification, teachers are required to show competency that they are highly qualified (HQT) and are prepared to educate students (Green et al., 2021). Unfortunately, certification does not always correlate to quality teaching or positive student outcomes for students with EBDs. Without the proper training, educators often turn to ineffective practices that negatively impact students with EBDs (Hirsch et al., 2022; Zaheer et al., 2019).

The literature supports the view that students with EBDs require explicit, intensive, engaging, and focused teaching strategies (Bruhn et al., 2022; Hirsch et al., 2022). Given that teachers play a critical role in student outcomes, it is important they use effective interventions in distance learning rooted in evidence-based practices. However, teachers report uncertainty in supporting students with EBDs (Hirsch et al., 2021; McGuire & Meadan, 2022). Additionally, education preparation programs often place minimal emphasis on classroom management techniques and school districts provide limited professional development opportunities to support special education teachers serving students with EBDs (Hirsch et al., 2022; French, 2019; Oliver & Reschly, 2017). Students with EBDs need individualized and targeted instruction to support their socialemotional functioning and learning needs (Benner et al., 2022; Hirsch et al., 2022; State et al., 2019). Given their unique needs, teachers must receive the knowledge and skills to implement evidence-based academic and behavioral strategies to improve student outcomes (State et al., 2019). Without the proper training, teachers are susceptible to job burnout, ineffective teaching practices, and poor student outcomes (Bruhn et al., 2022; Brunsting et al., 2022; Hirsch et al., 2022; Gilmour et al., 2022; O'Brien et al., 2019).

Although knowledge and skills are essential in providing individualized support, Leggio and Terras (2019) indicate that understanding behavioral disorders and effective teaching strategies may not be enough when instructing students with EBDs. Teachers should develop a positive attitude and genuine listing skills and become aware of influences that may hinder their ability to teach students with EBDs effectively. Leggio and Terras (2019) identified three critical characteristics of effective teachers of students with EBDs. First, effective EBDs teachers develop teacher-student relationships that foster a student's ability to succeed despite setbacks. Students with EBDs need wellqualified teachers to teach them the skills they lack. Secondly, effective EBDs teachers establish positive learning environments that are safe, consistent, and nonjudgmental. Finally, effective EBDs teachers individualize instruction that meets individual academic and behavioral needs.

MTSS and Adaptive Supports

Research supports that students with EBDs can be successful in a general education setting when teachers apply inclusive practices that use evidence principles and strategies such as multi-tiered system of support (MTSS) (Lanterman et al., 2021). Research indicates teachers should implement a range of evidence-based practices and intensive interventions that are differentiated or modified and adapted from standardized methods to meet the diverse academic and behavioral needs of students with EBDs (August et al., 2018; Farmer et al., 2021; Jagers et al., 2019). Systematic and nonacademic interventions are common approaches to support students with EBDs (Gage et al., 2017; Markelz et al., 2019). Research indicates that MTSS, through evidence-based practices (EBP), offers the best opportunity for students with EBDs to learn (Horner & Halle, 2020; Melloy & Murry, 2019; Smith et al., 2018). Although promising, a review of the literature shows that most existing service delivery models are fragmented or non-existent (Mitchell et al., 2019; State et al., 2019). In addition, the research consistently documents teachers are not implementing evidence-based practices with fidelity (Chen et al., 2021; State et al., 2019). This has led to a disconnect between effective and evidence-based practices and standard practices among this population of students. Consequently, this puts our most challenging students at a higher risk of social-emotional difficulties and disengagement in distance learning if educators are not prepared to meet their unique academic, social, and behavioral needs (Hirsch et al., 2021; Mitchell et al., 2019; State et al., 2019).

The MTSS framework consists of principles from response to intervention (RtI) and Positive behavioral interventions and supports (PBIS). It integrates a continuum of support that includes evidence-based practices, strategies, and resources to address the academic and behavioral challenges that often create barriers to learning (Chen et al., 2021; Marsh & Mathur, 2020; Melloy & Murry, 2019; Splett et al., 2018). In California, MTSS integrates Common Core State Standards (CCSS), core instruction, differentiated learning, student-centered learning, individualized student needs, and the alignment of systems necessary for students to succeed (e.g., academic, behavioral, and socialemotional) (CDC, 2020). The National Association of School Psychologists (NASP) supports MTSS as an effective framework that delivers a comprehensive system of differentiated support to improve the outcomes of a range of students, including special education students who struggle with learning. A multi-tiered system of support also connects with the demands of Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) and IDEA, which supports the concept that every student has access to a high-quality education regardless of their learning needs (Marsh & Mathur, 2020; Melloy & Murry, 2019).

From a systemic perspective, MTSS provides three levels of support: intensive (Tier 3), targeted (Tier 2), and universal (Tier 1). Intensive (Tier 3) programs are individualized based on current student needs. Tier 3 meets the needs of 3-5% of the student population, manifesting high-risk behaviors, learning difficulties, and signs of mental health problems. Interventions are provided in a small group (i.e., 1-3), with weekly progress monitoring. Targeted (Tier 2) programs allow increased time to practice learned skills and instructional materials in a group setting (i.e., 5-8), with monthly progress monitoring. Tier 2 meets the needs of 7-10% of the student population. Universal (Tier 1) programs are designed to meet the needs of 85-90% of the school population. Tier 1 promotes preventative and proactive academic and mental health functioning with universal screenings two to three times a year (Bierman & Sanders, 2021; Marsh & Mathur, 2020).

The tiers are designed to function in a group setting, individual, or a combination of individual and group settings based on student needs and level of intensive instruction for better outcomes for general and special education students. To address students' social and emotional functioning at the Tier 3 level, school-based intervention programs are facilitated by a licensed clinician, marriage family therapist, or school psychologist and are empirically or evidence-based supported programs (Marsh & Mathur, 2020). Chen et al. (2021) indicates that although MTSS provides a framework to promote student success, evidence-based strategies to address the needs of students with EBDs are limited. Most of the interventions developed center on universal (Tier 1) and targeted (Tier 2) strategies that are designed to prevent instead of treat problems students with EBDs may already be experiencing (Chen et al., 2021). Although Tier 1 and Tier 2 supports are designed to mitigate students requiring Tier 3 support, additional information on how to provide effective intervention programs at the Tier 3 level is required to maximize overall student outcomes (Chen et al., 2021). School-based interventions within a multi-tier system of support (MTSS) framework are common approaches to addressing the needs of students with and without EBDs within the school setting. However, it is unclear how this transfers over to distance learning.

Although students with EBDs may have access to targeted interventions, studies have shown that challenging behaviors that are emotionally and behaviorally driven will likely require interventions that go beyond the Tier 1 and Tier 2 intervention levels of the MTSS framework (Chen et al., 2021; Farmer et al., 2021; Melloy & Murry, 2019; Splett et al., 2018;). Currently, limited information is available for Tier 3 practices for students with EBDs and even less for those participating in distance learning (Farmer et al., 2021). Research indicates that students with EBDs make up a small fraction of school populations across the United States, which accounts for the limited research in this area. Farmer et al. (2021) propose building upon MTSS and treating students with EBDs

within a Tiered System of Adaptive Supports (TSAS). Like MTSS, the TSAS is a framework of support focusing on Tier 3 interventions to promote the positive reorganization of a student's social-emotional development by creating adaptive services for individual needs (Farmer et al., 2021). The framework includes approaches from what is currently known through the existing literature and advances in prevention perspectives, MTSS, social-emotional learning initiatives and programs, evidence-based programs, and systems of care services to support specific student needs (Farmer et al., 2021). The critical difference between the framework is that the evidence-based practices are not specific to any tier. The interventions can be utilized across various tiers if data shows that the strategy meets that specific goal of that tier (Farmer et al., 2021). Additionally, unlike the MTSS framework, TSAS acknowledges that students do not uniformly respond to standardized universal strategies and recognizes that development is heterogeneous (Farmer et al., 2021; Jagers et al., 2019). This approach to creating adaptive services, responsive to individual student circumstances and needs, is believed to increase the likelihood of positive outcomes in the educational setting and distance learning environment (August et al., 2018; Farmer et al., 2021).

Likewise, August et al. (2018) proposes a similar approach to addressing students' social, emotional, and behavioral needs with EBDs. The approach is referred to as adaptive treatment strategies (ATS). Similar to MTSS, it tailors each individual's intervention over time based on continuous assessment of the student's response to the intervention but extends the model by specifying (a) which intervention options to offer first, (b) at what point in time to assess and adjust the interventions, and (c) which

intervention options should be offered if there is no response to the first intervention option (August et al., 2018). Using empirically derived decisions, educators can target individual characteristics that guide the selection of intervention programs. This approach moves past the associated problem-solving approach from the MTSS framework and builds upon empirical evidence to inform decisions and promote positive outcomes. Flanagan and Morgan (2021) suggest applying Universal Design for Learning (UDL) to support students with high-incident disabilities in distance learning environments (e.g., learning disabilities, mild intellectual disabilities, emotional-behavioral disorders, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder).

UDL

According to Sailor et al. (2021), MTSS coupled with UDL provides the best possible outcomes for students with disabilities, including students with EBDs. UDL is a research-based, evidence-based practice that guides educational practices based on the premise that instruction needs to be individualized to meet the diverse learning needs of students (Flanagan & Morgan, 2021). UDL principles guide educators on instructional strategies to mitigate potential learning barriers. To support the learning of students in distance learning environments, Flanagan and Morgan (2021) indicate that UDL, like inperson learning, offers multiple means of engagement and motivation to learn by allowing educators to design a flexible curriculum that adjusts to the learner's interest and motivation. In addition, UDL provides options on how students can access information (e.g., video and audio options) and demonstrate their knowledge of learning through multiple means of action and expression to show mastery of the content (Flanagan & Morgan, 2021). These guidelines, which are the basis of UDL, permit the instruction and intervention to be individualized, which is the hallmark of special education. Specifically for students with EBDs, UDL steps away from traditional instruction delivery methods and encourages engagement, flexible learning environments, and learning spaces that can accommodate learning differences (CAST, n.d.; Cook et al., 2017).

Applying UDL principles to online learning provides an underlying foundation based on a model, practices, and tools that have already been well-established in the literature to help support the growing changes brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic and the needs of students with EBDs (Basham et al., 2020). Basham et al. (2020) further adds, the UDL framework, along with the use of technology, provides a proactive approach to learner diversity to maximize student learning. The UDL guidelines purport to develop expert learners who are purposeful, motivated, resourceful, knowledgeable, strategic, and goal-directed (CAST, n.d). In California, UDL is supported by the California Department of Education (CDE) to provide equity and inclusion for general and special education students to provide a high-quality education for all learners in a distance learning environment (CDE, 2023). It is also defined in the federal education law, Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), governing general K-12 education (CAST, n.d). Research has shown that students with EBDs require individualized interventions to meet their unique needs to support their social, emotional, behavioral, and academic needs. The UDL framework can provide guidelines for educators to support the learning needs of students with EBDs.

Academic Challenges and EBDs

Educational challenges in the learning environment are well established and include difficulties in reading, written expression, and math compared to students with and without disabilities (Chitiyo et al., 2021; Mitchell et al., 2019; Nordness et al., 2019). Adamson and Lewis (2017) reported that the academic performance of elementary students with behavior problems is up to 1.5 to 2-grade levels behind their peers. Research suggests that by the time students with EBDs enter high school, the achievement gap may be 3 ¹/₂ grades behind typical developing students (Adamson & Lewis, 2017; Mckenna et al., 2021). Similarly, in a systematic review of five metaanalyses focused on academic, curricular, and instructional interventions examining the academic achievement of K-12 students with EBDs, Campbell et al. (2018) indicated that students with EBDs performed at or below the 25th percentile in general academic functioning. Eventually, these deficits impact academic performance in other subject areas, such as history, science, and language arts, as students with EBDs transition to middle or high school, where the instructional content becomes more complex and difficult to comprehend (McKenna et al., 2021). Despite the poor academic performance of students with EBDs, there is limited research on academic interventions to improve outcomes (Campbell et al., 2018; Nordness et al., 2019). Zaheer et al. (2019) suggest using strategies and practices that have evidence of effectiveness, such as adopting evidence-based practices (EBPs) to address students' academic difficulties. EBPs are defined as practices subject to systematic, empirical inquiry and determined to be effective with the relevant population.

Distance Learning and School Connectedness

Distance learning provides accessibility and individualization for special education students (Hopcan et al., 2021). Students can attend classes whenever and wherever they want without leaving their homes. In addition, the added flexibility of online lessons with offline activities allows students to learn at their own pace. In contrast, the primary limitation of distance learning is the opportunity for face-to-face interactions between peers and teachers. This is a significant disadvantage, especially for students identified with an emotional disturbance who have difficulties with building or maintaining satisfactory interpersonal relationships with peers and teachers, inappropriate types of behavior or feelings under normal circumstances, or a general mood of unhappiness or depression (IDEA, Section 300.8 (c) (4). Consequently, distance learning may increase the risk of students with EBDs developing a connectedness to school.

Research has shown that by the nature of the disability, EBDs students may have trouble developing high levels of connectedness to school. This may lead to high-risk behaviors, disengagement, and disconnect from the learning environment (Garwood & Moore, 2021; Marsh, 2018; Marsh et al., 2019). Marsh (2018) refers to school connectedness as the extent to which a student feels staff and peers care about them as individuals, their academic success, and their overall well-being. The concept consists of three components: (a) school bonding and attachment, (b) school engagement, and (c) school climate (Marsh, 2018). Without those components, students with EBDs may struggle to engage in distance learning (Marsh, 2018; Hirsch et al., 2022). In addition to possibly hindering school connectedness, distance learning has the potential to exacerbate social skills development, social life, and the mental and psychological health of students with EBDs without effective interventions (Carrero et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2021; Hirsch et al., 2022; Hopcan et al., 2021; Lloyd et al., 2019; Marsh, 2018; Marsh et al., 2019). According to Ortiz et al. (2020), numerous entities have developed teacher preparation standards that address teaching and supporting students in distance learning. Still, these standards have focused on the general student population, not students with EBDs.

Generally, students with EBDs have a developmental history of problems establishing adult and peer connections or a significant traumatic event resulting in a persistent state of alarm (Marsh et al., 2019; Mitchell et al., 2019). As stated, they may present with high-risk behaviors, including substance use, self-harm, and suicidal behaviors that adversely impact public health, social welfare, and, most importantly, engagement in the learning environment. These challenging behaviors can disrupt school readiness, strain student-teacher relationships, and, without the right interventions, can persist into adulthood (Duppong Hurley et al., 2019; Mitchell et al., 2019; Nemer et al., 2019; Zolkoski, 2019). Although students with EBDs share common characteristics, research indicates the needs of students with EBDs vary, with the right interventions and positive behavior support, they can have positive behavioral and academic outcomes (Chen et al., 2021; Chitiyo et al., 2021; Farmer et al., 2021; Kumm et al., 2021; McKenna et al., 2021; Nordness et al., 2019; Van Loan & Garwood, 2020; Zimmerman et al., 2020)

A key finding in the literature suggests that even well-intentioned interventions may fail without establishing a strong teacher-student relationship. Mihalas et al. (2009), as cited in Garwood and Moore (2021), state a high-quality teacher-student relationship establishes the foundation for effective class and school-wide positive behavioral support. Hirsch et al. (2021) describe four school-based interventions, grounded in evidence, for students with and at-risk of EBDs: (a) building relationships, (b) establishing expectations, (c) promoting engagement, and (d) making choices within the learning environment. These practices are most effective when delivered together and differentiated (Hirsch et al., 2021). Intrinsically, the teacher-student relationship is essential to fostering learning and connectedness.

According to Valenti et al. (2019), emotionally and socially competent educators are more likely to create high-quality classroom environments that result in more academic success for students. Similarly, Bettini et al. (2019) indicate meeting students' needs with EBDs requires a better understanding of special education educators as service providers. However, as Leggio and Terras (2019) indicated, teachers would benefit from evaluating their skill level to develop unconditional teacher-student relationships, create positive classroom environments, and individualize instruction to provide effective teaching strategies. Research also reveals teachers' educational level, certification status, and years of experience impacts the academic achievement of this population of students (Gage et al., 2017).

Based on a review of the literature spanning seven research articles from 2009 to 2018, negative relationships with staff and protective factors such as personalized curriculum, were found to significantly influence positive student outcomes. The concept of a "pupil's voice" was also viewed as a protective factor for a positive educational experience. Allowing students to express themselves was linked to them feeling heard

and understood (Cosma & Soni, 2019). This research highlights how teachers can influence and foster a positive school experience where students feel connected to the learning environment. The experiences of implementing interventions in distance learning are not clarified through existing research.

Online Academic Intervention Strategies for Students with EBDs

The Adolescent Community of Engagement (ACE) framework stipulates students are more likely to engage in courses when given collaborative learning opportunities that allow them to construct new knowledge with their peers (Borup et al., 2014). Borup et al. (2014) examined this learner-learner engagement in a study that sought to understand the impact of learner-learner interaction in K-12 online learning environments. Borup et al. (2014) found that the ACE framework can positively impact learning through motivating, instructing, and collaborating activities. Teachers described befriending, motivating, instructing, and collaborating as behaviors that positively impacted student engagement. Befriending and motivation were believed to have formed the foundation for students to guide their peers and collaborate effectively. Teachers also identified obstacles and potential drawbacks to meaningful learner-learner interaction. Meaningful collaboration requires more structure and uniform pacing. Furthermore, just as positive social interactions fostered a sense of community and increased motivation, negative interactions created a sense of isolation and unmotivated students. Therefore, this framework provides a positive approach to teaching EBDs students online.

Summary and Conclusions

A review of literature indicates there have been over 40 years of work and evidence of growing needs of students with EBDs. However, little has been done to advance this area of study. This present study fills the gap in literature regarding providing effective interventions to educate and support students with EBDs in distance learning environments. The study will also extend knowledge of providing students with EBDs explicit social, behavioral, and academic support to address their learning needs to keep them engaged in these environments. Since limited research exists regarding distance learning practices for students with EBDs, this study will also contribute to the development of professional development programs for teachers to better meet the needs of these students.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore teachers' experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs participating in K-12 online special education programs in the state of California. Research indicates that students with mental health issues are some of the most demanding and challenging to educate and support (Bettini et al., 2019; Hott et al., 2021; Mitchell et al., 2019). Online learning limits the ability of teachers to use interpersonal connections, modeling, and physical manipulatives that assist with making specially designed instructional or specialized academic instruction (SAI) meaningful, engaging, and individualized, which can impact the learning of students with EBDs (Alvarez-Guerrero et al., 2021; Schuck & Lambert, 2020). Semi-structured interviews were conducted with K-12 special education teachers of students with EBDs to explore teachers' experiences with the phenomena.

This chapter begins with a description of the qualitative research design and the researcher's role. It then explains the sample, recruitment of participants, instrumentation, and procedures used to collect and analyze the data. The trustworthiness of the study will also be detailed. The chapter concludes with a summary.

Research Design and Rationale

This qualitative study explored the experiences of special education teachers in selecting interventions and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. The research question guiding the study was: What are teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning? There was a need to provide additional insight into teachers' experiences in engaging students with EBDs in distance learning to determine how these experiences influenced interventions to improve student outcomes. A quantitative study would not have yielded an in-depth understanding of teacher experiences with selecting and implementing interventions as it relies on numerical, measurable data, quantifying variables, or how often something occurred (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Instead, a generic or basic qualitative design with interviews appeared to be the most appropriate design because it allowed for analysis and understanding of how individuals interpret their experiences with specific experiences or phenomena (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Several approaches to qualitative research were considered. For example, the phenomenological design was not used because online instruction is not considered an "intense human experience" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), and the lived experiences of each participant did not need to be examined. Similarly, a case study was not selected as this study did not seek to develop an in-depth analysis of a case, program, event, activity, process, or individuals (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Instead, this study sought to understand a specific targeted population. The aim was to gather information about values, opinions, and behaviors that create themes to uncover and interpret the meaning of teachers' experiences to understand better the phenomenon (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Braun and Clarke's (2006) method of analyzing qualitative data entails searching across a dataset to identify, analyze, and report repeated patterns (themes) across a data set through a six-step process. It provided a way for the researcher to identify and understand the collective

or shared meanings and experiences, thereby comprehending how participants perceive and interpret these commonalities.

Role of the Researcher

Currently, I work as a School Psychologist for a school district in California. I provide a supporting role to the school district where the study was conducted. As a School Psychologist for the district, I identify students for special education services, work with teachers and staff to ensure best practices in the classroom setting and provide professional development for special education teachers throughout the district. As an employee of the district, I do not serve in a supervisory position, nor is there a conflict of interest. As a School Psychologist, I have personally observed and heard about the challenges of teaching practices implemented by the district that do not always address the learning needs of special education students, specifically students with EBDs. The understanding that there exists a disparity between the learning needs of students with EBDs gave me empathy, yet the objectivity to find answers that guided me throughout this study.

As the researcher, my role was to gather, organize, and analyze the experiences of online teachers responsible for educating and supporting students with EBDs without bias. I was the only interviewer, and I kept a journal to document my thoughts, judgments, opinions, inferences, and ideas about what was shared during the interview process. Although my experiences and involvement in the educational system have shaped my perception, I avoided bias by paying attention to details, listening to how participants respond, and asking probing or follow-up questions to accurately document their thoughts and feelings (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). In addition, I developed competent methods to explain the study without bias, made appropriate field observations, and analyzed and interpreted the data per design (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Finally, I ensured that participants felt safe by allowing them to keep their identities confidential (Creswell & Poth, 2018). As the interviewer, I kept the tone formal yet conversational and consistent with each participant by asking the same questions in the same order for the teacher interview.

Methodology

The methodology section includes information about the population, participant selection, the interview protocol, questionnaire instruments to be used, and the process used to validate the instruments. Additionally, I will explain the plan for data collection and analysis.

Participant Selection Logic

The setting of this study was a suburban public school district in Southern California. According to the National Center for Educational Statistics (2021), the district enrolled 21,065 students from 2019-2020, of whom 3016 had IEPs. The district has 26 schools, including an adult transition program, three alternative education schools, three high schools, three middle schools, two K-8 schools, 13 elementary schools, and one state preschool. According to the district special education director, during the 2020-2021 school year, 35 students qualified under the eligibility criteria of Emotional Disturbance. Online learning occurred for all students from March 2019 through June 2020, and 6 students remained on distance learning after June 2020. The selected district has 133 special education teachers, 22 of whom provide special education services for students who qualify under the eligibility of Emotional Disturbance during the 2019-2020 school year. Therefore, the recruitment pool consisted of 22 potential participants who provide online services to students with EBDs.

Sampling Approach and Criteria for Participant Selection

According to Creswell and Poth (2018), qualitative researchers should collect extensive details from a few individuals. Likewise, Merriam and Tisdell (2016) emphasized that the researcher should gather information until the point of saturation or redundancy that the researcher begins hearing the same responses to the interview questions and should not be based on the number of interviews. A purposeful sampling of the target population of 22 special education teachers in the target district served as the main participant sample for this study. The proposed desired sample size was 10 -12 participants. The small number of participants allowed me to examine the experiences of special education teachers in an in-depth manner and to focus on the methods used to select interventions for each participant, allowing the development of descriptive data and saturation to be reached (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

The following criteria were used to select participants: (a) credentialed special education teachers, (b) a minimum of two years of experience with students identified with Emotional Disturbance (ED), and (c) employed in the target district. A demographic questionnaire was used to confirm that participants met the study criteria. Invitations were sent to 22 educators within the target district. Of those invitations that were returned, nine were screened to obtain the required sample size using inclusion criteria.

Demographic details were requested for data analysis purposes, such as years of teaching special education, years of service, knowledge of or experience with students with emotional disturbance, and degree obtained.

Instrumentation

There is a gap in the research as it pertains to educating students with EBDs in distance learning. To address the gap, the proposed interview questions were generated based on the related studies presented in Chapter 2 and Knowles' (1980) theory of andragogy. The researcher carefully planned the introductory questions, transition questions, key questions, and closing questions that were analyzed to generate themes (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The data collection instruments included an interview protocol that featured open-ended questions and follow-up prompts designed to resolve any ambiguity. Digital copies of the interview were downloaded onto a password-protected personal computer.

Data sources consisted of recorded interviews via Zoom to gather insight into the interventions, strategies, and processes used to get a glimpse into the teacher's knowledge base. The interview questions encompassed teacher experiences and engagement interventions. The director of special education and the district program specialist vetted the questions, providing feedback to enhance sentence fluency, sentence order, clarity, specificity, text organization, and details about using a specific curriculum. Subsequently, this researcher revised the interview questions to ensure they provided sufficient information to yield reliable data.

Developing the interview protocol included going through Chapter 2, identifying topics related to teacher experiences, and selecting interventions to increase engagement. During data analysis, I color-coded the questions based on the topic to help develop statements summarizing each category's main ideas. The interview questions were related to classroom interactions, the instructional model, personal beliefs, motivation, and implementation of interventions. In the open-ended questions, teachers were asked about their learning environment, the classroom, and what supports student engagement. Other questions will focus on the teacher's perception of the class.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

With Walden IRB approval, I emailed the district special education director to seek permission to send the Letter of Invitation to the special education teachers to conduct this study. I then arranged a meeting with the district special education director to answer any questions they might have regarding the study. Upon collecting the names and email addresses of the special education teachers, the Letter of Invitation was emailed to them. This letter included a link to the notice of consent followed by the demographic questionnaire. Participants' identities were kept confidential.

To ensure participants understood how the interviews would be conducted, the process was explained in the notice of consent that was sent electronically to the sample participants. This notice outlined the nature and the purpose of the study, the length of the interview, and the time required to complete the demographic questionnaire. The notice of consent also included information on informed consent and the participants' right to withdraw from the study at any time without consequences. If a response is not returned within one week, the second Letter of Invitation was emailed, per the IRB committee's approval process. Interested individuals indicated their participation by responding with "I consent."

Interviews were conducted using Zoom. Interviews were recorded within the Zoom platform, and a backup recording device was used. I began each interview with an introduction about the purpose of the study and explained that the interview was recorded for coding purposes. Participants were given the option of turning off their webcam for confidentiality. Participants were informed that they had the right to withdraw from the interview at any time. Once the participant answered all the questions, I concluded the interview and thanked them for their participation. A follow-up email was sent within three days, thanking them for their involvement in the study and letting them know a follow-up interview may occur should there be any additional questions to address.

Data Analysis Plan

Once the recorded data was transcribed, the researcher coded the interview questions using in vivo coding software, followed by a manual thematic analysis. I followed the thematic analysis model as suggested by Braun and Clarke (2006). I integrated the 15-point checklist that Braun and Clarke (2006) discussed to ensure a thorough data analysis. The thematic analysis phase consisted of the following phases: familiarizing myself with the data, generating preliminary codes, identifying themes, refining these themes, defining and naming themes, and finally, compiling the findings into a report (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The in vivo coding software assisted the research with sorting, coding, and analyzing the data by themes. Dalkin et al. (2021) describe in vivo coding as an attempt to increase transparency and support theme analysis using multiple sources within the software. Since the interviews were organized and structured so that the same questions were asked to ensure consistency, it was possible to make generalized statements and inferences about the data (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Issues of Trustworthiness

Qualitative research by design can introduce a myriad of concerns if one does not identify biases, values, and personal backgrounds that may shape the interpretations under study (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Since I work within the district where the study was conducted, I may bring some biases to this study since I echo some of the frustration of my colleagues. However, I aim to ensure that participants reflect on their learning and instructional experiences truthfully and honestly without bias (Kawulich, 2005). According to Creswell and Poth (2018), trustworthiness is used to describe the validity and reliability of the study presented. For the study to be considered trustworthy, it must address credibility, authenticity, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

Credibility

Credibility refers to the accurate representation of the participant's viewpoint. According to Bloomberg and Volpe (2018), the criterion of credibility addresses the researcher's ability to accurately convey patterns, themes, and issues that might not be easily understood. To maintain credibility and remove any biases that may influence my analysis, I will provide participants with a copy of their interview in transcript form, which allows them to read and comment on the analysis (Creswell & Miller, 2000). I will then conduct a second interview to verify that the analysis accurately represents their experiences. This member-checking process is a way to ensure the information gathered is accurate and will reduce researcher bias.

In addition, I will use the method of reflexivity as I gather and analyze data to create the space for intentional reflection (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). The journal entries will provide a way to make a deeper connection between current and past ideas and assist with developing perspectives, viewpoints, and questions through the study. As an employee of the district in this study, reflexivity provides the means to set aside my opinions, draw upon the information, and objectively interpret the research findings to ensure credibility.

Transferability

Transferability describes the extent to which the study could relate to other settings. To establish transferability, I used thick descriptions and variations in participant selection. Transferability through thick, rich descriptions allows the reader to be transported into the situation under study and describes the contextual elements that ground and shape the study (Creswell & Miller, 2000). I also established a criterion for participants and addressed the issue by acknowledging the study's limitations based on these factors to convey contextual relevance.

Dependability

Dependability refers to the stability and consistency of data over time (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). To establish dependability, I will use audit trails and peer review. Audit trails include detailed explanations of how the data was collected and analyzed and a clear record of field notes and transcripts. The peer-review process will assist with

checking the consistency of the data and reduce the potential bias of a single researcher collecting and analyzing data (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018).

Confirmability

Confirmability describes objectivity in the researcher's findings and interpretations of the data (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). Bloomberg and Volpe (2018) indicate it is the implication that the findings are evidence of the research and not the outcome of the biases and subjectivity of the researcher. To establish confirmability, I will use reflexivity and triangulation strategies. Using reflective and triangulation strategies throughout the data collection and analysis process will allow me to critically reflect, evaluate, and discuss with participants to assess the trustworthiness of the findings and interpret and explain them accurately.

Ethical Procedures

Qualitative data requires the researcher to minimize the potential harm to the study's participants. In this study, I ensured the rights and protection of all participants by establishing safeguards such as informed consent, confidentiality, and privacy. I requested permission from the district and school board following IRB approval. I also followed all the required procedures to select and engage with the participants as agreed by the school district in the study. I transcribed the data and checked for accuracy. In addition, data was protected and secured in a locked file cabinet and encrypted computer files. Identifiable data will not be shared with the committee. After five years, as IRB requires, paper documents will be shredded, and digital data will be physically destroyed by erasing all data from the researcher's computer-based files.

Summary

In this qualitative study, I explored the experiences of nine special education teachers in selecting interventions to increase learning engagement for EBDs students in distance learning. A generic or basic qualitative design with interviews was selected because it allowed the researcher to analyze people's complex experiences with the phenomena (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The setting of this study was a suburban public school district in Southern California. A purposeful sampling of the target population of 22 special education teachers in the target district served as the main participant sample for this study. To address the gap in the research on educating students with EBDs in distance learning environments, proposed interview questions were generated based on the related studies presented in Chapter 2 and Knowles' (1980) theory of and ragogy. A thematic analysis of the recorded interviews, as recommended by Braun and Clarke (2006), was conducted. For the study to be considered trustworthy, the criteria for credibility, authenticity, transferability, dependability, and confirmability were followed. Finally, the rights and protection of all participants were ensured by establishing safeguards such as informed consent, confidentiality, and privacy throughout this research study. Chapter 4 will describe the research, data collection, and findings.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to explore and understand teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning environments. Data were collected using semistructured interviews that were conducted over Zoom with nine participants. This chapter includes the study's setting, participant demographics, and methodology to collect and analyze data. Additionally, I detail measures to ensure the study's trustworthiness, results, and a summary of findings.

Setting

My goal was for special education teachers to share their experiences involving instructing students with EBDs in a distance learning environment. The study received approval in late April 2023, which coincides with the end of the district's academic year at the end of May. Typically, teachers are burdened with various tasks and responsibilities at the end of the school year and do not want to take on additional tasks during this period. Consequently, they were potentially hesitant to take on extra commitments as they looked forward to summer break or were already engaged in summer training programs for the next school year. These factors may have contributed to the limited number of participants who volunteered.

Demographics

Participants were credentialed special education teachers with a minimum of 2 years of experience working with students with EBDs. Another requirement was participants had to be employed within the targeted district. Those without online

teaching experience or who had worked with me were excluded from the study. The study included nine participants: three women and six men. Each participant was a special education teacher with at least 2 years of teaching experience and held a master's degree; two had earned a Ph.D. Among the participants, four had between 5 and 10 years of experience working with students with EBDs, while five had over 10 years of experience. In terms of expertise with students with EBDs, three participants rated their skill level as intermediate, five as advanced, and one as an expert.

Data Collection

To begin the data collection process, I contacted the school district's Director of Special Education to seek permission to send letters of invitation. I shared the purpose of the study and participant criteria. Once approval for the study was obtained, the Director of Special Education provided me with email addresses of special education teachers with experience teaching students with EBDs. I sent letter of invitations containing embedded links to consent forms. If they elected to participate, they clicked on the link with the words "I consent" and received a notice explaining the nature and purpose of the study, lengths of interviews, and time it would take to complete the demographic questionnaire. This also included information regarding informed consent and their ability to withdraw from the study at any time without consequences. After receiving consent and demographic information, I responded by email, introducing myself as the researcher and providing a brief overview of the study.

Once they consented, participants and I coordinated meeting times for Zoom interviews. Times were offered after the contracted school year ended. Each participant is

referred to as a number, such as P1 and P2. Most participants chose to have their videos on during interviews, except for one. Participants took part in interviews from their homes or home offices. I conducted all interviews from my home office to ensure privacy for participants. All interviews were conducted using Zoom's recording feature and Cockatoo. The recruitment and data collection process took 12 weeks to complete.

Before beginning each interview and initiating recordings, I reiterated the study's purpose and once more sought participants' verbal consent to be recorded. Once I received approval from participants to begin recording, data collection began. I conducted a total of nine semi-structured interviews. Duration of each interview varied from 19 to 67 minutes. Initially, the plan was to conduct interviews with 10 to 12 participants. However, by the ninth interview, data saturation had been met. Data saturation was achieved, as indicated by themes which emerged during interviews. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) suggested data saturation is reached when new data no longer brings additional insights, marked by redundancy within the data.

After interviews were completed, audio recordings were transcribed using Cockatoo, an online platform that is designed for recording and transcribing interviews. I then checked transcribed interviews in Microsoft Word and made edits as needed to correct words that were not accurately transcribed. Video recordings from Zoom and transcription of interviews were saved in a digital password-protected file on my computer.

Data Analysis

Once transcriptions were completed, I imported them into MAXQDA to begin the initial coding process. During this phase, I used MAXQDA while also following Braun and Clarke's six phases of thematic analysis to identify and analyze patterns within data systematically. The first step involved immersing myself in the data to understand the content. By reading and rereading transcribed interviews, I was able to identify patterns, ideas, and potential themes that emerged from the data. Using MAXQDA, I highlighted and systematically coded the data. This involved assigning labels to specific data that relate to the same ideas, concepts, or themes. MAXQDA's coding feature was used to organize and categorize data into segments, which helped me identify patterns across datasets. I reviewed each coded extract, generating a thematic map for analysis. At this stage, themes became more visible as I was able to make connections between codes to form patterns that related to the research question. Data connected to the research question regarding teachers' experiences in terms of selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning environments.

The next step involved reviewing themes, defining them, and renaming them to refine my themes and capture overall analysis. During this step, I used my own words and direct quotes to help describe patterns that emerged based on data that helped answer the research question. Patterns were determined by identifying 25 different codes that were common throughout data. These codes included academic advancement, assessment, and feedback, beginning of class activities, innovative teaching strategies, advantages of online learning, challenges of online learning, use of educational platforms, breakaway rooms for individual attention, building rapport with students, one-on-one engagement, personal sharing and connections, addressing student behavior, calling out student behavior, managing classroom dynamics, engaging parents in the learning process, navigating home learning environments, adapting to new technology, challenges with technology, providing emotional support, social skills development, encouraging students to participate, adapting curriculum for online delivery, self-paced and direct instruction models, using humor and engagement strategies, and recognition and rewarding effort.

Next, I used Excel to highlight and group codes into categories based on the research question. I was able to determine two distinct categories based on the coded data. These categories include (a) relationship building and fostering engagement and (b) leveraging technology to increase engagement. I then moved from patterns and categories to overarching themes. The themes identified based on the response to the research question are discussed in the results section of this chapter. In the last step, I continued to use Excel to arrange themes and the relevant quotes into tables and integrate the data from all the participants to identify consistent patterns and themes. This approach helped develop a comprehensive thematic analysis of the data. Following Braun and Clarke's (2006) guidance, I refined and then defined each theme, ensuring its relevance to the research questions. This process enabled me to craft a detailed analysis that addressed the research question and connected it back to the existing body of literature. Consequently, I was able to provide answers to the research question that guided my study.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

As previously mentioned in earlier chapters, the integrity of the research was established by addressing creditability, authenticity, transferability, dependability, and confirmability throughout the study to determine trustworthiness (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Credibility

Credibility refers to the accurate representation of the participant's viewpoint. According to Bloomberg and Volpe (2018), the criterion of credibility addresses the researcher's ability to accurately convey patterns, themes, and issues that might not be easily understood. Within this study, credibility was established using strategies that included checks from members who were not involved with the study. I used member checks, recommended by Creswell and Poth (2018), by asking three members to review their transcripts. This form of checking throughout the study allowed for clarification and determined any areas of confusion that needed to be eliminated.

Transferability, Dependability, and Confirmability

Transferability describes the extent to which the study could relate to other settings. To establish transferability, I used thick descriptions of the participants, detailed settings of the study, and any resources used. Transferability through thick, rich descriptions allows the reader to be transported into the situation under study and describes the contextual elements that ground and shape the study (Creswell & Miller, 2000). I also established a criterion for participants and addressed the issue by acknowledging the study's limitations based on these factors to convey the contextual relevance clearly.

During the study, I kept an audit trail for each step with details of the study's transparency and reliability (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This ensured the study's dependability, and that data could be applied to the participant's experiences to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. To ensure confirmability, I used reflexivity throughout the study. This strategy allowed me to critically reflect, evaluate, and discuss with participants to assess the trustworthiness of the findings and interpret and explain them accurately. This strategy also helped reduce any personal bias that would have affected the study's outcome (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Results

In this study, I conducted interviews with nine participants. I asked questions that focused on answering the research question and connected them to aspects of the theoretical framework. The results are structured thematically to support the overall research question. Results are explained with the themes related to the research question. Table 1 presents the themes and subthemes for the research question that guided this study. In this section, I review each theme and subtheme in detail.

Table 1

Research Questions and Data Themes

Research Question	Data Themes
	Theme 1: Relationship building and fostering engagement.

	Subtheme 1:1: Collaborative and supportive learning environment.
What are teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning?	Subtheme 1:2: Behavioral and emotional supportive practices.
	Theme 2: Leveraging Technology to increase engagement.
	Subtheme 2: Instructional adaptation and enrichment.

Research Question

The research question for this study was:

What are teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to

increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning

environments? This question aimed to provide a platform for teachers to explain their

experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic

engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. To address this question, two

major themes, two subthemes for one of them and one subtheme for theme two, were

found for a total of three subthemes. In this section, I discuss each theme and subtheme,

including quotes from the data collected.

Table 2

Theme 1, Subtheme 1:1 and 1:2

Theme	Subtheme
Relationship Building and Fostering Engagement	Collaborative and Supportive Learning Environment
	Behavioral and Emotional Supportive Practices

Theme 1: Relationship Building and Fostering Engagement

This theme focuses on strategies to cultivate a more personalized and engaging learning experience. It includes the creation of learning spaces, efforts to build rapport, personalized attention, and the use of humor and relatability to maintain student engagement. In eight cases (n = 8), participants emphasized the importance of understanding students' needs and circumstances to tailor their teaching approaches effectively. They also discussed the importance of establishing trust and rapport and went beyond standard teaching practices to maintain these connections, especially with the challenges of distance learning. P1 was an example of how casual check-ins and relating to students personally can make a difference. Instead of immediately starting the day with academic content, they would engage students with casual conversations about their weekend, discuss movies, and other personal interests. This approach allowed the educator to gauge the emotional state of the students, ensuring they were ready to learn. P1 recalled:

There'd be days where a kid logs in thinking we're about to jump into some curriculum and I'm doing my verbal check in, "Hey, man, what's going on? Anybody seen the new movie that came out? What'd you guys do this weekend? Anybody barbecuing this weekend?" Like, you know, just general talking. And you will kind of get a feel for things. And if I felt like things weren't right, I wouldn't necessarily jump in academic stuff...the biggest thing for me is always like you have your person. Who's your person? Every kid has to feel comfortable talking to someone. Every kid needs to have an outlet. P3 had a similar experience and indicated the importance of understanding the students before meeting them and forming a strategy based on this understanding. By reviewing information about the students, the educator can tailor their interactions and teaching strategies to be more effective and responsive to engagement. P3 expressed, "the process is to begin with really getting to know the students. It starts with before you're even introduced to the student, you have to begin the process by actually reading information about the student." P5 highlighted that the reason why many students with emotional disturbance require alternative strategies is that they struggle with relationship building, so they try to model what it's like to be in a positive teacher/student relationship, "I've operated as being in a partnership with them."

Other participants acknowledged the difficulties of connecting with students in a virtual setting. Some participants (n = 3) used humor as a tool, empathy, and individual attention to engage students. These methods are particularly significant in a virtual learning environment where physical cues are absent, and the risk of disengagement is high. For example, P6 explained, "then I try to use humor as much as I can to kind of keep them engaged." P8 stressed, "the most effective thing that I've learned is knowing exactly what led to having that diagnosis of emotional disturbance." P9 explained the importance of individual attention in connecting with students: "It's usually for attention, so arranging a one-on-one meeting time is more engaging and more of a buy-in because they know that they're important to me." These quotes illustrate how prioritizing relational connections and trust-building with students helped foster an engaging and supportive learning environment.

Subtheme 1: Collaborative and Supportive Learning Environments

In this subtheme, participants (n = 5) described the collaborative efforts between home and school, highlighting the crucial role of parents in supporting the learning process during distance learning. They emphasized how actively involving parents enhanced student participation and served to recognize and reward students' efforts, thereby motivating them to remain engaged and invested in their learning. For example, P8 shared experiences of fostering strong relationships with parents to support student engagement. This partnership was crucial in making distance learning a collaborative effort between home and school. P8 recalled:

I had a few that would always be on there and I actually had a lot of them on there. And that was kind of like because I had built a relationship with the parents and they supported me, so it was easier to ask parents to make sure they're on it and they would be on.

P5 had a similar experience, detailing that collaborating with parents helped to ensure student engagement, "And if they were disengaged, I had to really text their parents saying, hey, is there something wrong with the Zoom? I can't see so and so." These insights illustrate how teachers actively engaged parents to overcome the challenges, ensuring students remain engaged and motivated. P4 captured perfectly how direct communication with parents is a key strategy to keep students connected, "I immediately set up the Google voice, every parent's number in so that I could make contact at home. That's the first thing that I did." Other participants (n = 2) discussed how empowering their students in terms of increasing responsibility and personal worth helped establish a supportive learning environment. P1 reflects on giving the students the experience of college-level work as a source of pride and empowering students by acknowledging their academic achievement and increasing their responsibilities, "so for them to be able to say, hey, I took a college course, and I got an A or a B, that was like a big chip on their shoulder, and I think it was empowering." P6 also speaks to student empowerment through increased responsibility. This empowerment boosts their self-worth and engagement. P6 notes, "And they actually like the increase in responsibility because I think it creates their own personal worth and personal value." Overall, while the primary goal remained the teaching of academic content, most of the participants focused on fostering an environment that promoted parental involvement and empowered students to feel in control, valued, and capable. This approach is crucial in supporting students with EBDs.

Subtheme 2: Behavioral and Emotional Supportive Practices

All participants (n = 9) stated that behavioral and emotional supportive practices are the cornerstone of supporting students with EBDs to increase engagement. P2 provided the most detailed explanation about the significance of creating a supportive, understanding, and responsive environment for students with EBDs. P2 highlighted the importance of creating a classroom environment where students feel like they belong and are proud to be part of because "we all have a voice, we all matter, I mean, because again, you're with each other all day, every day, you better find a way to get along." They emphasized the importance of acknowledging each student's voice, fostering a sense of belonging, and the value of finding innovative ways to engage students "like, I'm going to make this your own. This is gonna be something that you feel safe in, that you want to be part of, and we're gonna get better." This approach is vital for students with EBDs, as it helps reduce stigma and fosters a sense of community. P2 recalled:

The first semester, they were awful. We went back to day one of Boys Town, like accepting no for an answer, like I'm teaching this in high school, you know, like continually drilling it. They're getting better now...having leaders, having stakeholders, having a voice, having opinion, like knowing this classroom, taking away the stigma.

P2 then went on to explain how, in their experience, it's important to have patience and understanding, "I try to show more grace and understanding with the population and what they've been through." This strategy helps create a comfortable environment to engage students, and they want "to be in here." P4 reiterated this sentiment and reflected on the rewarding feeling of seeing students become more comfortable as time passed, "the rewarding parts were after they are settled in, and the kids are a little more comfortable." Similarly, as P8 noted, recognizing even small efforts builds confidence and motivates students to continue engaging and improving. P8 recalls:

So, when they come to me and say, I'm done. Ok, listen, I appreciate that you sat there for five minutes doing this, man. That means a lot because yesterday, remember yesterday? You were up all day, dude. But I appreciate you sitting there for five minutes, and you wrote something. You wrote a word. I really appreciate that. You're awesome. How about now? How about we add a few more words to this word?

P6 emphasized setting clear boundaries and expectations for behavior as another key factor in creating a mutually respectful and engaging environment. P6 recalled:

And the other big rule I have is we have to have classroom norms...And I think the reason why it worked was because even through everyone was contributing to a dysfunctional environment, there were elements of that environment that they didn't like. So, if we all agree to stop, the piece that they don't like stops. But that means that they also have to stop contributing to the piece that the other person doesn't like.

However, others struggled and were challenged to engage students. P1 stated that students would turn off their cameras and wouldn't participate in the learning environment. P3 recalled:

When you have a child who has emotional disturbance, psychological problems, unfortunately, impersonal disconnected methods that are employed with online learning usually exacerbate their feelings of isolation and their feelings of being disconnected.

Similarly, P4 expressed teaching students with EBDs was "daunting" at times and took "a lot of time and effort" to meet their needs in distance learning and described their experience as "almost exhausting." P9 stated, "unless there is some form of accountability...and when I say accountability, meaning an adult there to monitor and make sure they're doing what they're supposed to do," indicating that meeting the socialemotional needs of students with EBDs was challenging. P3 recalled:

Even as attentive as I am and as skilled as I am in knowing students and having the relationship with them, it made it more difficult to really get the kind of results and the potential out of the students that I would normally have expected.

Collectively and despite the struggles, all the participants focused on fostering student engagement and addressing the social-emotional needs of students with EBDs. This involves close communication, community creation, and consistent support and acknowledgment of student struggles and achievements. The participants also demonstrated their commitment to maintaining an educational space where students are heard, and their individual needs are met with empathy and creativity. They stressed the need for accountability to maintain student engagement. This holistic approach highlights the importance of creating positive classroom environments and relationship building as integral to educational interventions for students with EBDs.

Table 3

Theme 2 and Subtheme 2:1

Theme	Subtheme
Leveraging Technology to Increase Engagement	Instructional Adaptation and Enrichment

Theme 2: Leveraging Technology to Increase Engagement

Although teachers emphasized the importance of relationship building, tailoring strategies to individual student needs, and leveraging humor and empathy as a value to

increase engagement for students with EBDs, teachers also stressed the value of leveraging technology to increase engagement. This theme captures teachers' educational strategies and assessment approaches to foster academic growth. It includes class activities designed to engage, ongoing feedback to inform instruction, and modifications to the curriculum that accommodate distance learning. In most cases, participants (n = 7)described a multifaceted approach when using technology. P1 explains how they creatively use technology in distance learning: "The positive side of some of the software is it allowed you to create quizzes and tests that were auto generated, and you could create a bank of questions." This allowed the teacher to develop individualized assignments to meet the needs of the class. Similarly, P2 elaborates on adding structure to the day while incorporating technology in varied ways to maintain focus and engagement, "We did like a writing prompt right out of the gate, and then we'd do like some form of Edpuzzle, and then we'd do another writing component, and then we'd have a lecture, and then a discussion..." This multifaceted approach allowed students with EBDs to actively participate in the distance learning environment. P7 noted that delivering academic content online was more straightforward than in-person teaching due to fewer distractions. They observed that the absence of physical classroom distractions supported the direct teacher-student interaction online and, as a result, enhanced the effectiveness and focus of content delivery. P7 states:

I felt that there some real advantages to teaching online...because so much of their issues revolved around their interactions with other students and sometimes with other adults even in the classroom that I didn't have as much control over...but when we were online it was just me and just the student and I felt it was a lot, in many ways a lot easier to deliver the academic portions.

In addition, P6 explained that ongoing feedback provided students with a review of the lesson and helped inform instruction for the day. This allowed the educator the opportunity to reinforce learning and address any confusion to help create a positive learning environment: "So I used Canvas, and we would typically do a recap of the previous day's assignment, and then I would ask for any additional questions." Likewise, P5 introduced additional methods to keep students engaged, such as using a whiteboard on Zoom and typing out key points in the chat during lessons. This multi-modal approach helped accommodate different learning styles and kept students attentive and involved. P5 stated, "What I had to do is when I spoke, I would type in the chat, or I had a whiteboard on Zoom where I would type in questions for engagement." Teachers also used breakout rooms to teach small groups, while the digital platform allowed continued monitoring of the other students. This approach ensured personalized attention where needed without losing oversight of the entire class. P1 explains, "if we broke out and did small groups on Zoom, I could still monitor the other kids."

Even with leveraging technology to increase engagement, P6 expressed concerns about the limitations of distance learning, especially for explaining complex concepts that might be easier in a physical setting. P6 stated:

And then, even if they didn't have any questions, I would still raise questions I think kids would probably have. And the reason why I did that was because, you know, explaining something over Zoom is different than being in the classroom.

P3 also expressed concerns about the effectiveness of online learning for students experiencing emotional disturbance, "I don't tend to be in favor of online learning for children who have or are having an emotional imbalance." Despite their concerns, they also recognize the necessity to adapt and incorporate various technological tools to better engage and support these students. P3 stated that teaching online "challenged me to utilize more technological pieces in the online media" to help engage students with EBDs. Overall, the finding indicates the need for innovative ways to use technology to adapt teaching methods and assessments for distance learning. These experiences also reveal a shared understanding of the potential of technology to foster an effective learning environment despite the challenges of distance learning.

Subtheme 2.1: Instructional Adaptation and Enrichment

This theme covers teachers' strategies and methods to engage students and adapt instruction to the online format, ensuring academic progression and active participation. Most participants (n = 6) described how they included innovative class activities designed to engage students and made curriculum adjustments that cater to distance learning. P1 explains how they intertwine reading and writing assignments to reinforce learning, using technology to provide students with tools like sentence starters. This ad aptation helped students develop stronger writing skills by reflecting on the reading materials. P1 shares:

So, reading and writing, I typically bounce them off of each other. I try to keep writing assignments reflective of anything reading, more so than providing independent assignments. I felt like they has some material they could reflect on or look at, they would usually write stronger assignments because they could go look for words, they could use some of the terminology and things of that nature...What I also did was I also created a snapshot of sentence starters that would be broken down into different areas with starting a sentence, transitions, starting your second paragraph, third paragraph, and different transitions.

P1 explained that these adaptations allowed for a deeper understanding of the content and helped students remain engaged in the learning environment. Additionally, P1 explained that in their experience, "how subject matter was implemented, it really came down to the teacher." They explain:

I could have two students with the same primary and secondary disabilities. It doesn't mean they're going to react to the intervention the same. And I think that's kind of a case-by-case thing as to where and when we implement things and see the outcomes, at some point, you got to make a judgement call. Is this working for this kid or not?

Similarly, P2 and P8 emphasize the necessity of creating engaging lessons that capture students' interests and cater to their needs. They use scaffolding and targeted lessons to break down information to make it more relevant and relatable to maintain engagement. They incorporated other online resources such as Khan Academy, Ed puzzle, and online videos to support those struggling academically in addition to the online curriculum. Additionally, P2 tried to follow an instructional format like in-person teaching. They would start their session like they would do in person and allow the students to "get their funnies out" before introducing the lesson. For those students who were a bit more boisterous and difficult to engage, the teacher introduced a digital

randomizer. This tool allowed students to choose and randomly select preferred assignments which they themselves had suggested. It was a creative and innovative way to adapt the lesson and engage students. Whereas P8 focused on individualizing learning. This method ensured that all students received the support needed to succeed regardless of their academic level. P8 recalled:

So, I brought the kids into breakout rooms according to their abilities or reading levels and...so one group did you know lower level another group did a higher and I did one different group so when the kids that needed extra reading I would put them in that group.

P9 also expressed the need to individualize the academic content and stated, "I don't get a curriculum and follow their scope and sequence to a T. I do more standards-based" instruction. Yet other teachers preferred a more structured approach when adapting their instruction to foster engagement. P3 recalled:

You have to be able to know your students, understand their interests, figure out where their needs are and then you have the material that you're required to teach. Then you try to create a lesson that always, this is step two, has a good hook to it to initially get their attention and then based on that hook, you're able to progressively deliver the lesson...you got to have what is the hook to kind of get their attention. So, it's something that they understand, and they connect with, so that's the hook that gets them interested, so they actually want to pay attention.

P3 reiterated again later in the interview that they had to adjust their teaching approach "so that you're able to make those connections with your students and make sure that learning is occurring." Adapting the instruction was, therefore, seen as a necessity and a way to address varied needs. P3 also described using scaffolding, targeted lessons, chunking assignments, data, and one-on-one small group instruction to support the different learning needs of students. Similarly, P6 used recall strategies to keep students engaged and adapted the curriculum accordingly to the student's needs. P6 states, "I realize the importance of spending arguably more time on recall than time memorizing. So, we do a lot of recalls." Overall, each participant, through their unique approach, shares a common goal of addressing the specific needs of their students and adapting to an educational environment that distance learning necessitated.

Summary

Chapter 4 included results of this study, including themes that answered the research question. I began by describing the setting and explaining that the study was approved at the end of the school year. This may have influenced the number of participants as teachers planned for their summer break. Next, demographics were presented, including characteristics of nine participants that were relevant to the study and collection of data. This was followed by an explanation of data collection procedures. The number of participants was discussed, as well as location and duration of interviews. Once data analysis was discussed, an explanation of trustworthiness of the study followed, which included evidence of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Chapter 4 concluded with results from data during interviews, which revealed two major themes with direct and indirect quotes from participants to answer the research question.

The two major themes were relationship building and fostering engagement as well as leveraging technology to increase engagement. Subthemes that emerged were collaborative and supportive learning environments, behavioral and emotional supportive practices, and instructional adaptation and enrichment. Themes and subthemes illustrate that implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning environments goes beyond traditional academic delivery. It requires a comprehensive approach that includes emotional support, relationship building, and collaboration with parents. Educators' dedication to understanding, engaging, and empowering their students fosters nurturing environments where individual needs are addressed. The narrative also highlights how technology, despite its challenges, provides valuable opportunities to enhance engagement. Educators use technology in innovative ways to adapt their teaching strategies to meet the unique needs of students with EBDs. This approach helped establish thriving online learning environments within the limitations of distance learning. This evolution of teaching strategies demonstrates the importance of integrating both social-emotional support and adapting technology to support students with EBDs.

Chapter 5 includes my interpretations of the findings. This includes comparing findings with peer-reviewed literature in Chapter 2. These findings are also analyzed based on the theoretical framework. Furthermore, I address the study's limitations, propose recommendations, and consider implications for social change. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning environments. Data addressing the research question were collected through semi-structured interviews with nine teachers who instruct students with EBDs in K-12 public schools within a suburban district in California. Teachers can meet the unique learning needs of students with EBDs by creating positive classroom environments, individualizing instruction, and fostering teacher-student relationships. However, it is unclear if these classroom practices can be effectively transferred to distance learning. There is limited research concerning effective interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs participating in distance learning environments.

This study was conducted to explore teachers' experiences regarding selecting and implementing interventions to best support students with EBDs in distance learning environments. Findings include positive and negative experiences based on participants' perceptions. One of the study's main findings was relationship building and fostering engagement in distance learning environments. Participants addressed strategies to craft individualized learning experiences marked by strong rapport building, direct personal engagement, and tailored instruction. This illustrates the significant impact of understanding and addressing students' individual and emotional needs to support engagement in online learning environments. I also addressed the importance of leveraging technology to increase student engagement. This suggested using technology innovatively and creatively to increase student engagement. Teachers who made adaptations to accommodate distance learning and modifications to their teaching approaches for online learning formats saw the most improvement and positive engagement among students with EBDs. Negative experience of participants related to technological challenges faced by teachers and consistently addressing specific needs of students with EBDs in distance learning environments. These findings are discussed and interpreted in this chapter.

In this chapter, I explain interpretations of findings based on themes. I describe study limitations and recommendations that were derived from my analysis of data collected from interviews. Implications for positive social change are also addressed.

Interpretation of the Findings

In this section, I interpret findings and compare them to findings from literature as discussed in Chapter 2. Themes were relationship building and fostering engagement and leveraging technology to increase engagement. In this section, connections between findings and literature are organized. The research question was as follows:

What are teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning environments?

Creating positive classroom environments, individualizing instruction, and building teacher-student relationships are essential to address unique learning needs of students with EBDs (Garwood & Moore, 2021; Leggio & Terras, 2019). Teachers also need targeted skills, abilities, and knowledge to teach students with EBDs effectively (Chen et al., 2021; Cumming et al., 2021; French, 2019; Hirsch et al., 2021; Smith et al., 2018). According to the data, participants who established teacher-student relationships went beyond standard teaching practices to maintain these connections. They observed improved outcomes, notably increased engagement in distance learning and higher attendance rates, ensuring students were present and ready to learn.

While students with EBDs share common traits, individual differences exist. However, with appropriate interventions and positive behavior supports, students with EBDs can have positive behavioral and academic outcomes (Chen et al., 2021; Chitiyo et al., 2021; Farmer et al., 2021; Kumm et al., 2021; McKenna et al., 2021; Nordness et al., 2019; Van Loan & Garwood, 2020; Zimmerman et al., 2020). Duppong Hurley et al. (2019) found parental involvement improved academic outcomes among students at risk of EBDs compared to students without disabilities. Collaboration between home and school played a crucial role in supporting the learning processes of students with EBDs during distance learning. Students with EBDs tend to face more challenges than their peers with other disabilities, including social-emotional, academic, and behavioral disabilities (Kern et al., 2021; Mitchell et al., 2019; Oldfield et al., 2017). These findings underscore the critical importance of behavioral and emotional support practices for effectively supporting students with EBDs.

Students with EBDs require individualized interventions to meet social, emotional, behavioral, and academic needs. The UDL framework can provide guidelines for educators to support the learning needs of students with EBDs. UDL in distance learning environments is supported by the CDE to provide equity and inclusion for special education students. It is also defined by the ESSA governing general K-12 education. Many participants used multifaceted approaches when using technology, including class activities that were designed to engage, ongoing feedback to inform instruction, and modifications to the curriculum that accommodate distance learning, which is in line with UDL learning guidelines. Flanagan and Morgan (2021) indicated UDL, like in-person learning, offers multiple means of engagement and motivation to learn by designing a flexible curriculum that adjusts to learners' interests and motivations. Students with EBDs need individualized and targeted instruction to support their social-emotional functioning and learning needs (Benner et al., 2022; Hirsch et al., 2022; State et al., 2019). Participants explained they used a variety of strategies and methods to engage students and adapt instruction to online formats, ensuring academic progression and active participation. They made instructional adaptations with the common goal of addressing specific needs of students with EBDs in distance learning environments.

Although participants shared a common goal of addressing the specific needs of their students and adapting to an educational environment that distance learning necessitated, they expressed feeling challenged teaching students with EBDs in distance learning. These challenges included students not turning on their cameras, lack of parental involvement, and not being able to engage students despite using innovative and engaging strategies. These findings are consistent with the current literature, which indicates that students with EBDs may have a higher risk of behaviors, disengagement, and feeling disconnected from the learning environment (Garwood & Moore, 202; Marsh, 2018; Marsh et al., 2019).

The participants who expressed frustration with distance learning felt that by the time they could control behaviors and teach, the teaching was no longer meaningful or an engaging experience for the students or the teachers. They expressed a desire for additional support with practices and training. Given the unique needs of students with EBDs, the literature indicates that it is essential for teachers to receive the knowledge and skills to implement evidence-based academic and behavioral strategies to improve student outcomes (State et al., 2019). Without the proper training, teachers are susceptible to job burnout, ineffective teaching practices, and poor student outcomes (Bruhn et al., 2022; Brunsting et al., 2022; Hirsch et al., 2022; Gilmour et al., 2022; O'Brien et al., 2019).

The data gathered in this study aligned with the existing literature and theoretical framework of this study. Knowles' (1980) theory of andragogy includes five assumptions that suggest that teachers benefit from being involved in the planning and evaluating of instructional strategies and learning through acquiring knowledge. From this perspective, educators can move from facilitators to helping students achieve their full potential (Knowles, 1980). More specifically, applying andragogy to this study can be paralleled in the themes identified in the research study, which emphasizes the importance of self-direction, leveraging learners' experiences, readiness to learn, orientation to learning, and motivation.

In andragogy, the learner's experience is a critical component of the learning process. Participants built relationships and fostered engagement with their students and parents as part of the learning environment. This approach makes selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement more relevant and encouraging to the adult learner. And ragogy emphasizes establishing a collaborative learning environment where learners can contribute to the learning process. The theme of creating supportive and collaborative learning environments aligns with the principle of using the diverse experience of the learner to establish a positive learning environment for the students. Acknowledging and supporting students' emotional and psychological needs support an environment conducive to learning as an adult learner. Leveraging digital tools and platforms to accommodate diverse learning styles and needs of adults to help students in need aligns with the andragogical principle of readiness to learn and orientation to learning. Lastly, and ragogy advocates for the adaptation of instruction. The study's instructional adaptation and enrichment theme demonstrates how the adult learner can tailor learning activities and enrichment to align with the adult learners' experiences, professional experiences, and personal goals to create an effective learning experience.

Limitations of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore teachers' experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. There were limitations to the study. As stated in Chapter 1, a limitation is defined as a weakness in a research study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The first limitation is the sample size, which relates to dependability because the study was limited to nine participants. However, the nine participants were able to show saturation, as evidenced by the recurring themes as the interviews continued. As stated by Merriam and Tisdell (2016), the researcher should gather information until saturation or redundancy and not base it on the number of interviews. Another limitation relates to credibility.

The data collected is based on the participants' experiences. These experiences may not be shared experiences. However, the purpose of this study was not to provide a generalized experience but to learn about teachers' experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement with a specific population of students in distance learning. Another limitation was transferability. The study has been explained in detail, including an audit trail, the data collected, and the research question used in this study. I was explicit about the population and the context being studied, including the sample criteria. This transparency allows readers to make their own determination. The final limitation is trustworthiness. It was shared that the researcher works within the study location and may not have captured the full range of teachers' positive and negative experiences. However, throughout the study, an audit trail of notes and reflections was used to limit any biases during the study. I also provided member checking to help validate my findings. All these limitations were considered throughout the study.

Recommendations

This study provided insight into teachers' experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. The data collected fills a gap in the literature about teacher's experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. However, future research should continue to fill the gap by exploring the experiences of teachers who instruct students with EBDs in distance learning. Future research could involve a more extensive and diverse group of teachers from various geographic locations and school settings to enhance the repressiveness of the findings. Further studies could explore specific technological tools and platforms that improve engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning their efficacy in various teaching contexts. Given the noted importance of parental engagement, future research could focus on strategies to increase parental involvement in distance learning and examine its impact on student outcomes. This type of inquiry might provide a more comprehensive perspective on the social-emotional and academic needs of students with EBDs and provide additional insight to support this population of students and teachers better.

Implications

The findings of this study can lead to positive social change by adding to the research to support changes in public school policy and instructional practices for students with EBDs. The findings can potentially influence school districts to improve how they support and educate students with EBDs and promote professional development for teachers. The findings highlight the need for specific training programs that equip teachers with the skills to engage students with EBDs in distance learning settings effectively. Knowles' theory of andragogy highlights the relevance of adult learning

principles in professional development, especially in the context of distance learning. As stated in the literature, teachers can possess effective instructional approaches in a classroom, but these skills do not always transfer to effective online teaching (Tanis, 2020). Insights from the study may lead to adapting existing intervention strategies or developing new ones specifically designed for online learning environments. Such adaptations could help educators effectively address the unique needs of students with EBDs. Finally, the study highlights the potential need for schools to enhance support services, including counseling and technical support, to assist teachers and students in navigating the challenges of distance learning.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore teachers' experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. This study was developed to fill the gap in the current literature on providing effective interventions to educate and support students with EBDs in distance learning and promote teacher professional development. The study also extended the knowledge base of providing students with EBDs explicit social, behavioral, and academic support to address their learning needs to keep them engaged in distance learning environments (Bettini et al., 2019; Cosma & Soni, 2019; Gage et al., 2017; Mitchell et al., 2019; Popham et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2018). Nine special education teachers at a suburban school district in Southern California were interviewed for insight into their perceptions and experiences with selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning. Once the

data from the interviews were collected, the data analysis indicated the emergence of two main themes and three subthemes that answered the research question posed in this study.

The results of the study emphasized the value of personalizing the learning experience through relationship building, understanding individual students' needs, curriculum modifications, and using a variety of strategies to engage students, including technology, to enhance engagement. The study also identified that a collaborative and supportive learning environment, facilitated by parental involvement and recognizing student efforts, was crucial for increasing academic engagement. Additionally, behavioral, and emotional supportive practices were identified as essential in fostering a positive learning environment where students' social and emotional needs can be addressed. These findings have the potential to provide positive social change by adding to the research to support changes in public school policy and instructional practices for students with EBDs. Additionally, these findings have the potential to influence school districts to enhance how they support and educate students with EBDs, especially at times when teachers may need to engage in distance learning due to unforeseen circumstances or as a regular part of their professional journey.

References

- Adamson, R. M., & Lewis, T. J. (2017). A comparison of three opportunity-to-respond strategies on the academic engaged time among high school students who present challenging behavior. *Behavioral Disorders*, 42(2), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742916688644
- Alvarez-Guerrero, G., López de Aguileta, A., Racionero-Plaza, S., & Flores-Moncada, L.
 G. (2021). Beyond the school walls: Keeping interactive learning environments alive in confinement for students in special education. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.662646
- August, G. J., Piehler, T. F., & Miller, F. G. (2018). Getting "SMART" about implementing multi-tiered systems of support to promote school mental health. *Journal of School Psychology*, *66*, 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2017.10.001
- Bartle, S. M. (2021). Andragogy. Salem Press Encyclopedia. Salem Press.
- Basham, J. D., Blackorby, J., & Marino, M. T. (2020). Opportunity in crisis: The role of universal design for learning in educational redesign. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, 18(1), 71–91.
- Benner, G. J., Strycker, L. A., Pennefather, J., & Smith, J. L. M. (2022). Improving literacy for students with emotional and behavioral disorders: An innovative approach. *Teacher Education & Special Education*, 45(4), 331–348. https://doi.org/10.1177/08884064221079813

Bettini, E., Wang, J., Cumming, M., Kimerling, J., & Schutz, S. (2019). Special

educators' experiences of roles and responsibilities in self-contained classes for students with emotional/behavioral disorders. *Remedial and Special Education*, 40(3), 177–191.

Bierman, K. L., & Sanders, M. T. (2021). Teaching explicit social-emotional skills with contextual supports for students with intensive intervention needs. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 29(1), 14–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426620957623

- Billingsley, G. M., Thomas, C. N., & Webber, J. A. (2018). Effects of student choice of instructional method on the learning outcomes of students with comorbid learning and emotional/behavioral disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 41(4), 213– 226.
- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2018). Completing your qualitative dissertation. SAGE Publications.
- Borup, J., West, R. E., Graham, C. R., & Davies, R. S. (2014). The adolescent community of engagement: A framework for research on adolescent online learning. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 22(1), 107.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3, 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Bruhn, A., Choi, Y.-J., McDaniel, S., Mathews, H. M., & Hirsch, S. E. (2022). Meeting the needs of students with emotional and behavioral disorders during the COVID-19 school closures. *Behavioral Disorders*, 47(4), 270–281. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429211067472

- Brunsting, N. C., Bettini, E., Rock, M. L., Royer, D. J., Common, E. A., Lane, K. L., Xie,
 F., Chen, A., & Zeng, F. (2022). Burnout of special educators serving students
 with emotional-behavioral disorders: A longitudinal study. *Remedial & Special Education*, 43(3), 160–171. https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325211030562
- Buzzai, C., Sorrenti, L., Costa, S., Toffle, M. E., & Filippello, P. (2021). The relationship between school-basic psychological need satisfaction and frustration, academic engagement and academic achievement. *School Psychology International*, 42(5), 497–519. https://doi.org/10.1177/01430343211017170
- California Association of School Psychologists. (2014). *Educationally related counseling services in an AB114 world*. https://www.casponline.org/pdfs/positionpapers/ERMHS-final.pdf
- California Department of Education. (2023a). *Distance Learning*. https://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/cr/dl/
- California Department of Education. (2023b). *Special education CalEdFacts*. https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/se/
- Campbell, A. R., Bowman-Perrott, L., Burke, M. D., & Sallese, M. R. (2018). Reading, writing, math, and content-area interventions for improving behavioral and academic outcomes of students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, 16(2), 119–138.
- Carrero, K. M., Collins, L. W., & Lusk, M. E. (2017). Equity in the evidence base:Demographic sampling in intervention research for students with emotional and behavior disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 43(1), 253–261.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742917712969

- Carroll, A., Houghton, S., Forrest, K., McCarthy, M., & Sanders-O'Connor, E. (2020).
 Who benefits most? Predicting the effectiveness of a social and emotional learning intervention according to children's emotional and behavioural difficulties. *School Psychology International*, 41(3), 197–217. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034319898741
- CAST. (n.d.). Universal design for learning (UDL). Retrieved from https://www.cast.org/impact/universal-design-for-learning-udl
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, July 23). National Center for Health Statistics: Daily Updates of Totals by Week and State. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/covid19/index.htm
- Chen, C.-C., Sutherland, K. S., Kunemund, R., Sterrett, B., Wilkinson, S., Brown, C., & Maggin, D. M. (2021). Intensifying Interventions for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Difficulties: A Conceptual Synthesis of Practice Elements and Adaptive Expertise. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 29(1), 56–66.
- Chitiyo, A., King, S. A., Krizon, M. D., Ablakwa, C. N., & Markelz, A. M. (2021). A Methodological Review of Research Syntheses Involving Reading Interventions for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 46(4), 214–225. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742920919095
- Chiu, T. K. F. (2021). Student engagement in K-12 online learning amid COVID-19: A qualitative approach from a self-determination theory perspective. *Interactive*

Learning Environments, 1-14. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/10494820.2021.1926289

- Cook, S. C., Rao, K., & Collins, L. (2017). Self-Monitoring Interventions for Students With EBDs: Applying UDL to a Research-Based Practice. *Beyond Behavior*, 26(1), 19–27. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1074295617694407
- Cosma, P., & Soni, A. (2019). A systematic literature review exploring the factors identified by children and young people with behavioural, emotional and social difficulties as influential on their experiences of education. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties*, 24(4), 421–435. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13632752.2019.1633738
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approach* (5th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000) Determining Validity in Qualitative Inquiry. Theory into Practice, 39, 124-130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip3903_2
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018) Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design Choosing among Five Approaches. 4th Edition, SAGE Publications, Inc., Thousand Oaks.
- Crouch, E., Radcliff, E., Hung, P., & Bennett, K. (2019). Challenges to School Success and the Role of Adverse Childhood Experiences. *Academic Pediatrics*, 19(8), 899–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2019.08.006
- Crouse, T., Rice, M., & Mellard, D. (2018). Learning to Serve Students with Disabilities Online: Teachers' Perspectives. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 4(2), 123–

145.

- Crutcher, P. A. (2020). Toward an Empathic Model of Online Education. *Distance Learning*, *17*(3), 59–62.
- Cumming, M. M., O'Brien, K. M., Brunsting, N. C., & Bettini, E. (2021). Special educators' working conditions, self-efficacy, and practices use with students with emotional/behavioral disorders. *Remedial and Special Education*, 42(4), 220–234. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0741932520924121
- Dalkin, S., Forster, N., Hodgson, P., Lhussier, M., & Carr, S. M. (2021). Using computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS; NVivo) to assist in the complex process of realist theory generation, refinement and testing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(1), 123–134.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1803528
- Didion, L. A., Toste, J. R., & Wehby, J. H. (2020). Response Cards to Increase Engagement and Active Participation of Middle School Students with EBDs. *Remedial and Special Education*, 41(2), 111–123.
- Disability Rights California. (2024). Educationally related mental health services (ERMHS). Retrieved from https://www.disabilityrightsca.org/publications/educationally-related-mental-

health-services-ermhs

Dorn, E., Hancock, B., Sarakatsannis, J., & Viruleg, E. (2020). COVID-19 and student learning in the United States: The hurt could last a lifetime. *McKinsey Insights*, N.PAG.

- Duppong Hurley, K. L., Lambert, M. C., & Huscroft D'Angelo, J. N. (2019). Comparing a Framework for Conceptualizing Parental Involvement in Education between Students at Risk of Emotional and Behavioral Issues and Students without Disabilities. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 27(2), 67–75.
- Egan, T. E., Wymbs, F. A., Owens, J. S., Evans, S. W., Hustus, C., & Allan, D. M.
 (2019). Elementary school teachers' preferences for school-based interventions for students with emotional and behavioral problems. *Psychology in the Schools*, 56(10), 1633–1653. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22294
- Farmer, T. W., Bierman, K. L., Hall, C. M., Brooks, D. S., & Lee, D. L. (2021). Tiered
 Systems of Adaptive Supports and the Individualization of Intervention: Merging
 Developmental Cascades and Correlated Constraints Perspectives. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 29(1), 3–13.
- Flanagan, S., & Morgan, J. J. (2021). Ensuring Access to Online Learning for All Students Through Universal Design for Learning. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 53(6), 459–462. https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599211010174
- Freeman, J., Yell, M. L., Shriner, J. G., & Katsiyannis, A. (2019). Federal Policy on Improving Outcomes for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders: Past, Present, and Future. *Behavioral Disorders*, 44(2), 97–106. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0198742918814423
- French, D. D. (2019). Essential Components of School-Based Intervention for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders: An Integration of Research and Practice. *Preventing School Failure*, 63(4), 369–381.

- Gage, N. A., Adamson, R., MacSuga-Gage, A. S., & Lewis, T. J. (2017). The Relation between the Academic Achievement of Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders and Teacher Characteristics. *Behavioral Disorders*, 43(1), 213–222.
- Garcia, A. R., Metraux, S., Chen, C.-C., Park, J. M., Culhane, D. P., & Furstenberg, F. F. (2018). Patterns of Multisystem Service Use and School Dropout among Seventh-, Eighth-, and Ninth-Grade Students. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, *38*(8), 1041– 1073. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431617714329
- Garwood, J. D., & Moore, T. (2021). School Connectedness Insights for Teachers
 Educating Youth with a Severe Emotional Disturbance in Residential
 Treatment. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*, 38(2), 153–165.
- Garwood, J. D., Peltier, C., Sinclair, T., Eisel, H., McKenna, J. W., & Vannest, K. J. (2021). A Quantitative Synthesis of Intervention Research Published in Flagship EBDs Journals: 2010 to 2019. *Behavioral Disorders*, 47(1), 14–27. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0198742920961341
- Gilmour, A. F., Sandilos, L. E., Pilny, W. V., Schwartz, S., & Wehby, J. H. (2022).
 Teaching Students with Emotional/Behavioral Disorders: Teachers' Burnout
 Profiles and Classroom Management. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 30(1), 16–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266211020258
- Granger, K. L., Broda, M. D., Chow, J. C., McCormick, N., & Sutherland, K. S. (2021).
 A Preliminary Investigation of Teacher-Reported Classroom-Level Adversity and Teacher-Student Interactions. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 29(4), 238–251.

Green, A. L., McKenzie, J., Lewis, T. J., & Poch, A. L. (2021). From NCLB to ESSA: Implications for Teacher Preparation and Policy. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 32(3), 204–211. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044207320945397

Hawkins, R. O., Collins, T. A., Haas Ramirez, L., Murphy, J. M., & Ritter, C. (2020).
Examining the Generalization of a Combined Independent and Interdependent
Group Contingency for Students with Emotional and Behavioral
Disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 45(4), 238–251.

- He, S., Shuai, L., Wang, Z., Qiu, M., Wilson, A., Xia, W., Cao, X., Lu, L., & Zhang, J. (2021). Online Learning Performances of Children and Adolescents with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder During the COVID-19
 Pandemic. *Inquiry (00469580)*, 58, 1–11. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/00469580211049065
- Hirsch, S. E., Bruhn, A. L., McDaniel, S., & Mathews, H. M. (2022). A Survey of Educators Serving Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders During the Covid-19 Pandemic. *Behavioral Disorders*, 47(2), 95–107. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429211016780
- Hirsch, S. E., Griffith, C. A., Chow, J. C., Walker, A., & Walters, S. M. (2022).
 Professional Learning and Development for Special Educators Serving Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders in Self-Contained Settings. *Behavioral Disorders*, 48(1), 62–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429221110838
- Hirsch, S. E., McDaniel, S. C., La Salle, T., & Walker, A. C. (2021). Instructional Management for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders in Remote

Learning Environments. *Intervention in School & Clinic*, *57*(2), 78–86. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/10534512211001825

- Hopcan, S., Polat-Hopcan, E., & Özturk, M. E. (2021). Are Special Education Teachers Ready for Distance Education? Experiences and Needs During the Covid-19 Outbreak. *Bartin University Journal of Faculty of Education*, *10*(3), 526–540. https://doi.org/10.14686/buefad.823743
- Horner, R. H., & Halle, J. W. (2020). Implications of Emerging Educational Reforms for Individuals with Severe Disabilities. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 45(2), 75–80.

Hott, B. L., Jones, B. A., Rodriguez, J., Brigham, F. J., Martin, A., & Mirafuentes, M. (2021). Are Rural Students Receiving FAPE? A Descriptive Review of IEPs for Students with Social, Emotional, or Behavioral Needs. *Behavior Modification*, 45(1), 13–38. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0145445518825107

Hurtubise, K., & Carpenter, C. (2017). Learning Experiences and Strategies of Parents of Young Children with Developmental Disabilities: Implications for Rehabilitation Professionals. *PHYSICAL & OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY IN PEDIATRICS*, 37(5), 471–484. https://doi.org/10.1080/01942638.2017.1280872

Hutchins, N. S., Burke, M. D., Bowman-Perrott, L., Tarlow, K. R., & Hatton, H. (2020).
The Effects of Social Skills Interventions for Students with EBDs and ASD: A
Single-Case Meta-Analysis. *Behavior Modification*, 44(5), 773–794.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445519846817

- Jagers, R. J., Rivas-Drake, D., & Williams, B. (2019). Transformative Social and Emotional Learning (SEL): Toward SEL in Service of Educational Equity and Excellence. *Educational Psychologist*, 54(3), 162–184. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2019.1623032
- Jameson, J. M., Stegenga, S. M., Ryan, J., & Green, A. (2020). Free Appropriate Public Education in the Time of COVID-19. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 39(4), 181–192.
- Kawulich, B. B. (2005). Participant Observation as a Data Collection Method. *Qualitative Social Research*, 6(43).
- Kearsley, G. (2010). Adult learning theory. Retrieved from https://www.instructionaldesigncentral.com/adult-learning-theory
- Kelchner, V. P., Perleoni, M. K., & Lambie, G. W. (2019). An Investigation of Change: Elementary Students with an Individual Education Program Participating in a School-Based Mental Health Counselling Intervention. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 19(4), 325–333.
- Kern, L., Evans, S. W., Lewis, T. J., State, T. M., Mehta, P. D., Weist, M. D., Wills, H. P., & Gage, N. A. (2021). Evaluation of a Comprehensive Assessment-Based Intervention for Secondary Students with Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Problems. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 29(1), 44–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426620902721
- Kern, L., Harrison, J. R., Custer, B. E., & Mehta, P. D. (2019). Factors That Enhance the Quality of Relationships between Mentors and Mentees during Check &

Connect. Behavioral Disorders, 44(3), 148–161.

- Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical Teacher*, 42(8), 846-854. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030
- King, K. R., Gonzales, C. R., & Reinke, W. M. (2019). Empirically derived subclasses of academic skill among children at risk for behavior problems and association with distal academic outcomes. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 27(3), 131–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426617754082</u>
- Knowles, M. S. (1980). *The modern practice of adult education: From Pedagogy to Andragogy*. Cambridge, The Adult Education Company. New York, NY, 13–62.
- Knowles, M. S. (1989). The making of an adult educator: An autobiographical journal. Jossey-Bass Inc. San Francisco, CA. 78–85.
- Koenen, A.-K., Vervoort, E., Verschueren, K., & Spilt, J. L. (2019). Teacher-Student
 Relationships in Special Education: The Value of The Teacher Relationship
 Interview. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 37(7), 874–886.
- Kumm, S., Reeder, J., & Farrell, E. (2021). Social Skills Practice Strategy Opportunities for Students with EBDs. *Beyond Behavior*, 30(2), 97–106.
- Lambert, M. C., Katsiyannis, A., Epstein, M. H., Cullinan, D., & Sointu, E. (2021).
 Profiles of Emotional Disturbance Across the Five Characteristics of the Federal
 Definition. *Behavioral Disorders*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429211033567
- Lambie, G. W., Solomon, C., Joe, J. R., Kelchner, V. P., & Perleoni, M. K. (2019). School-Based Mental Health Counseling Intervention with Students in Title I

Elementary Schools. Children & Schools, 41(3), 161–168.

https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdz011

- Lanterman, C., Lockwood, A. B., Sealander, K., Winans, S., & Novelli, M. (2021).
 Expanding the gaze and moving the needle: Inclusion for students with EBDs. *Preventing School Failure*, 65(3), 185-193.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2021.1875918
- Leggio, J. C., & Terras, K. L. (2019). An Investigation of the Qualities, Knowledge, andSkills of Effective Teachers for Students with Emotional/Behavioral Disorders:The Teacher Perspective. *Journal of Special Education Apprenticeship*, 8(1).

Liu, A. Y., Lacoe, J., Lipscomb, S., Haimson, J., Johnson, D. R., Thurlow, M. L., National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance (ED), & Mathematica Policy Research, I. (2018). *Preparing for Life after High School: The Characteristics and Experiences of Youth in Special Education. Findings from The National Longitudinal Transition Study 2012. Volume 3: Comparisons over Time.* Executive Summary. NCEE 2018-4008. National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance.

- Lloyd, B. P., Bruhn, A. L., Sutherland, K. S., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2019). Progress and Priorities in Research to Improve Outcomes for Students with or at Risk for Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 44(2), 85–96. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0198742918808485
- Lowenthal, P. R., Greear, K., Humphrey, M., Lowenthal, A., Conley, Q., Giacumo, L. A.,& Dunlap, J. C. (2020). Creating Accessible and Inclusive Online Learning:

Moving beyond Compliance and Broadening the Discussion. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 21(2), 1–21.

- Mann, B., Li, W., & Besnoy, K. (2021). Digital Divides: K-12 Student Profiles and Online Learning. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 29(112–114), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.29.6351
- Markelz, A. M., Taylor, J. C., Kitchen, T., Riccomini, P. J., Catherine Scheeler, M., & McNaughton, D. B. (2019). Effects of Tactile Prompting and Self-Monitoring on Teachers' Use of Behavior-Specific Praise. *Exceptional Children*, 85(4), 471–489.
- Marlow, M. J., Garwood, J., & Van Loan, C. L. (2017). Psycho-Educational Approaches for Pre-Service Teachers Regarding Emotional and Behavioral Disorders and the Relationship-Driven Classroom. *International Journal of Special Education*, 32(4), 858–876.
- Marsh, R. J. (2018). Building School Connectedness for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *54*(2), 67–74.
- Marsh, R. J., Higgins, K., Morgan, J., Cumming, T. M., Brown, M., & McCreery, M. (2019). Evaluating School Connectedness of Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Children & Schools*, 41(3), 153–160. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdz013
- Marsh, R. J., & Mathur, S. R. (2020). Mental Health in Schools: An Overview of Multitiered Systems of Support. *Intervention in School & Clinic*, 56(2), 67–73. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451220914896

- Mattison, R. E., Benner, G. J., & Kumm, S. (2021). Characteristics and Predictors for Students Classified with Emotional and Behavioral Disorder Who Have Also Experienced Maltreatment. *Educational Considerations*, 47(1).
- McGuire, S. N., & Meadan, H. (2022). Social Inclusion of Children with Persistent Challenging Behaviors. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *50*(1), 61-69. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1322528
- McKenna, J. W., Garwood, J., & Parenti, M. (2021). Inclusive Instruction for Students with Emotional/Behavioral Disorders: Service in the Absence of Intervention Research. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 56(5), 316–321. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451220963084
- McKenna, J. W., Solis, M., Brigham, F., & Adamson, R. (2019). The Responsible Inclusion of Students Receiving Special Education Services for Emotional Disturbance: Unraveling the Practice to Research Gap. *Behavior Modification*, 43(4), 587–611. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0145445518762398

- McKittrick, L., & Tuchman, S., Center on Reinventing Public Education (CRPE), &
 National Center for Special Education in Charter Schools (NCSECS). (2020).
 Support Every Student: Lessons from Five Charter Schools on Effective Special
 Education during the Pandemic. In *Center on Reinventing Public Education*.
 Center on Reinventing Public Education.
- Melloy, K. J., & Murry, F. R. (2019). A Conceptual Framework: Creating Socially Just Schools for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disabilities. *World Journal*

of Education, 9(5), 113-124.

- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation: Vol. Fourth edition.* Jossey-Bass.
- Mihalas, S., Morse, W. C., Allsopp, D. H., & Alvarez-McHatton, P. (2009). Cultivating caring relationships between teachers and secondary students with emotional and behavioral disorders: Implications for research and practice. Remedial and Special Education, 30, 108–125. doi:10.1177/0741932508315950
- Mihalec, A. B. P., & Cooley, M. E. (2020). Examining individual-level academic risk and protective factors for fostering youth: School engagement, behaviors, self-esteem, and social skills. *Child & Family Social Work*, 25(2), 256–266. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12681
- Mills, B., & Sabornie, E. (2021). Variables that Predict Graduation for Students with Emotional Disturbance: An examination Across High Schools. *International Journal of Disability, Development & Education*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912x.2021.1947475
- Mitchell, B. S., Kern, L., & Conroy, M. A. (2019). Supporting Students with Emotional or Behavioral Disorders: State of the Field. *Behavioral Disorders*, 44(2), 70–84. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0198742918816518
- Molnar, A. (2019). Virtual Schools in the U.S. 2019. National Education Policy Center. Retrieved October 25, 2021, from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED574702.pdf.
- Mullins, C. A., & Panlilio, C. C. (2021). Exploring the mediating effect of academic engagement on math and reading achievement for students who have experienced

maltreatment. Child Abuse & Neglect, 117, 105048.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105048

- National Center for Educational Statistics. (2021). Education Statistics 2019-2020 and 2020-2021. U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/index.asp?Search=2&details=1&DistrictID= 0600027&ID2=0600027
- Nemer, S. L., Sutherland, K. S., Chow, J. C., & Kunemund, R. L. (2019). A Systematic Literature Review Identifying Dimensions of Teacher Attributions for Challenging Student Behavior. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 42(4), 557– 578. https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.2019.0026
- Nordahl, H., & Wells, A. (2019). Predictors of Work Ability in Individuals with a Common Mental Disorder: Is There an Effect of Metacognitive Beliefs Among Poor Physical Health and Emotional Distress? *Behaviour Change*, *36*(4), 252– 262. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1017/bec.2019.15
- Nordness, P. D., Hagaman, J. L., Herskovitz, R., & Leader-Janssen, E. (2019). POWER UP: A Persuasive Writing Strategy for Secondary Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 8(4), 32–42.
- Nortvig, A.-M., Petersen, A. K., & Balle, S. H. (2018). A Literature Review of the Factors Influencing E-Learning and Blended Learning in Relation to Learning Outcome, Student Satisfaction and Engagement. *Electronic Journal of E-Learning*, 16(1), 46–55.

O'Brien, K. M., Brunsting, N. C., Bettini, E., Cumming, M. M., Ragunathan, M., &

Sutton, R. (2019). Special Educators' Working Conditions in Self-Contained Settings for Students with Emotional or Behavioral Disorders: A Descriptive Analysis. *Exceptional Children*, 86(1), 40–57.

- Oelrich, N. M. (2012). A New "Idea": Ending Racial Disparity in the Identification of Students with Emotional Disturbance. *South Dakota Law Review*, 57(1), 9–41.
- Offerman, E. C. P., Asselman, M. W., Bolling, F., Helmond, P., Stams, G.-J. J. M., & Lindauer, R. J. L. (2022). Prevalence of Adverse Childhood Experiences in Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders in Special Education Schools from a Multi-Informant Perspective. *International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health*, *19*(6), 3411. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063411</u>
- Oldfield, J., Humphrey, N., & Hebron, J. (2017). Risk factors in the development of behaviour difficulties among students with special educational needs and disabilities: A multilevel analysis. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87(2), 146–169. <u>https://doi</u>org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/bjep.12141
- Ortiz, K., Mellard, D., Deschaine, M. E., Rice, M. F., & Lancaster, S. (2020). Providing Special Education Services in Fully Online Statewide Virtual Schools: A Policy Scan. Journal of Special Education Leadership, 33(1), 3–13.

Page, A., Charteris, J., Anderson, J., & Boyle, C. (2021). Fostering School
Connectedness Online for Students with Diverse Learning Needs: Inclusive
Education in Australia during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *European Journal of*Special Needs Education, 36(1), 142–156.

- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic Qualitative Research in Psychology. e Qualitative Report, 20(2), 76-85. Retrieved from hCps://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss2/7.
- Popham, M., Counts, J., Ryan, J. B., & Katsiyannis, A. (2018). A Systematic Review of Self-Regulation Strategies to Improve Academic Outcomes of Students with EBDs. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 18(4), 239–253.
- Prince, A. M., Hodge, J., Bridges, W. C., & Katsiyannis, A. (2018). Predictors of postschool education/training and employment outcomes for youth with disabilities. *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals*, 41(2), 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/2165143417698122
- Rice, M., & Dykman, B. (2018). The Emerging Research Base on Online Learning and Students with Disabilities.
- Sailor, W., Skrtic, T. M., Cohn, M., & Olmstead, C. (2021). Preparing Teacher Educators for Statewide Scale-Up of Multi-Tiered System of Support (MTSS). *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 44(1), 24–41.
- Schuck, R. K., & Lambert, R. (2020). "Am I Doing Enough?" Special Educators' Experiences with Emergency Remote Teaching in Spring 2020. Education Sciences, 10.
- Smith, S. W., Poling, D. V., & Worth, M. R. (2018). Intensive Intervention for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 33(3), 168–175. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/ldrp.12174

- Soares, D. A., Harrison, J. R., Melloy, K., Baran, A., & Mohlmann, M. (2022). Practiceto-Research: Responding to the Complexities of Inclusion for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders with Recommendations for Schools. *NASSP Bulletin*, 106(2), 77–108.
- Spence, R., Kagan, L., Kljakovic, M., & Bifulco, A. (2021). Understanding trauma in children and young people in the school setting. *Educational & Child Psychology*, 38(1), 87–98.
- Splett, J. W., Trainor, K. M., Raborn, A., Halliday-Boykins, C. A., Garzona, M. E., Dongo, M. D., & Weist, M. D. (2018). Comparison of Universal Mental Health Screening to Students Already Receiving Intervention in a Multitiered System of Support. *Behavioral Disorders*, 43(3), 344–356.
- State, T. M., Simonsen, B., Hirn, R. G., & Wills, H. (2019). Bridging the Research-to-Practice Gap through Effective Professional Development for Teachers Working with Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 44(2), 107–116.
- Tanis, C. J. (2020). The Seven Principles of Online Learning: Feedback from Faculty and Alumni on Its Importance for Teaching and Learning. *Research in Learning Technology*, 28.
- Tomaino, M. A. E., Greenberg, A. L., Kagawa-Purohit, S. A., Doering, S. A., & Miguel,
 E. S. (2021). An Assessment of the Feasibility and Effectiveness of Distance
 Learning for Students with Severe Developmental Disabilities and High
 Behavioral Needs. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, 1–17.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40617-020-00549-1

- Trust, T., & Whalen, J. (2021). K-12 teachers' experiences and challenges with using technology for emergency remote teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Italian Journal of Educational Technology*. https://doi.org/10.17471/2499-4324/1192
- Valenti, M., Brown, E. L., Horner, C. G., Mahatmya, D., & Colditz, J. (2019). Pathways to Working Alliances: Special Educators' Emotional Labor and Relationships with Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Teachers College Record*, 121(7).
- Van Loan, C. L., & Garwood, J. D. (2020). Measuring Relationships between
 Adolescents with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders and Their Teachers: A
 Psychometric Report. Assessment for Effective Intervention, 45(2), 144–150.
- Vaughan, T. (2020). The Little Edgenuity That Could. *Distance Learning*, 17(3), 33–37.
- Walters, C. H. (2001). Assumptions of Qualitative Research Methods. Perspectives In Learning, 2 (1). Retrieved from

http://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/pil/vol2/iss1/14

- Wattanawongwan, S., Smith, S. D., & Vannest, K. J. (2021). Cooperative Learning Strategies for Building Relationship Skills in Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Beyond Behavior*, 30(1), 32–40.
- Whitney, T., Ackerman, K. B., Cooper, J. T., & Scott, T. M. (2022). Opportunities to Respond to Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders in Inclusive Classrooms. *Intervention in School & Clinic*, 57(4), 243–250.

https://doi.org/10.1177/10534512211024931

- World Health Organization. (2019). *Adolescent health*. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/health-topics/adolescent-health/#tab=tab_1
- Wyse, A. E., Stickney, E. M., Butz, D., Beckler, A., & Close, C. N. (2020). The Potential Impact of COVID-19 on Student Learning and How Schools Can Respond. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 39(3), 60–64.
- Zaheer, I., Maggin, D., McDaniel, S., McIntosh, K., Rodriguez, B. J., & Fogt, J. B.(2019). Implementation of promising practices that support students with emotional and behavioral disorders. Behavioral Disorders, 44, 117–128.
- Zimmerman, K. N., Ledford, J. R., Gagnon, K. L., & Martin, J. L. (2020). Social Stories and visual supports interventions for students at risk for emotional and behavioral disorders. Behavioral Disorders,45, 207–223. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742919874050
- Zolkoski, S. M. (2019). The Importance of Teacher-Student Relationships for Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Preventing School Failure*, *63*(3), 236– 241.

Appendix A: Interview Questions

Research Question: What are teachers' experiences in selecting and implementing interventions to increase academic engagement for students with EBDs in distance learning?

1: In your experience, what is the process of teaching EBDs students online like?2: Would you please walk me through, step by step, the beginning, middle and end of distance class session with you teaching a reading, math, and writing lesson?

a: What does curriculum, communication, and content look like and sound like?

3: How do students respond if they do not understand or if they need help?

a: How do you keep EBDs students engaged in distance learning environments?

b: In your experience, what interventions are the most effective for EBDs students?

4: What can you share about the feedback you provide for the students?

a. How do you feel about EBDs students in a K-12 online setting?

5: What are some rewarding and challenging moments that you can recall from your experiences?

a: Is there any particular online teaching experience that has had a major impact on your life that you would like to share?

6: Has your experiences in the online setting changed the way you teach?

a: What teaching methods have you changed, modified, or added? Why?

b: How has your delivery of interventions and strategies changed over time?